MATHEMATICAL MODELLING OF HIV/AIDS CO-INFECTION WITH TUBERCULOSIS AND PNEUMONIA INCORPORATING PROTECTION

BY

NTHIIRI JOYCE KAGENDO

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN APPLIED MATHEMATICS

SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS, STATISTICS AND ACTUARIAL SCIENCES

MASENO UNIVERSITY

©2016

DECLARATION

This thesis is my own work and has not been presented for a degree award in any other institution.

Signature.....

Date.....

NTHIIRI JOYCE KAGENDO PG/PHD/082/11

This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as the university supervisors.

Signature.....

Date.....

Dr. G.O Lawi Department of Mathematics Masinde Muliro University of Science and Technology

Signature.....

Date.....

Prof. A.W. Manyonge Department of Pure and Applied Statistics Maseno University

Maseno University 2016

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I express sincere gratitude to my supervisors Dr. George O. Lawi of Masinde Muliro University of Science and Technology and Prof. Alfred Manyonge of Maseno University for their support and guidance in ensuring that this work is successfully completed. I wish to thank the National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation for the PhD grant award that financially facilitated the research. I am indebted to the German Academic Exchange Service(DAAD) and the International Center for Theoretical Physics (ICTP) for the continuous support and sponsorship to attend international Mathematics Schools, workshops and conferences that enabled me to interact and share ideas with local and international researchers in Mathematics. Thanks to Maseno University for providing partial funds in support of this study. My special thanks goes to my colleagues in Mathematics Department of Masinde Muliro University of Science and Technology for their continued support and encouragement during the research period.

To God be the glory, honour and adoration for Holy is His mighty name.

DEDICATION

To my dear husband Mr. David Muraya To my dear children, Amazing Grace Muraya and Prince Enoch Muraya To my loving parents Mr.& Mrs. Gilbert Nthiiri Magiri

ABSTRACT

The synergistic relationship between HIV/AIDS and respiratory infections, such as tuberculosis(TB) and pneumonia not only results in high mortality rates but is also a source of economic burden borne by many nations in the sub-saharan Africa. The search for a cure or vaccine for HIV/AIDS has yielded no conclusive results so far. Treatment failure and lack of adherence to treatment schedule which results in the evolution of drug resistant strains of diseases are challenges to grapple with in the management of diseases such as HIV/AIDS and TB. Due to global economic recession, provision and access to subsidised medication may not be sustainable in the long run. Existing HIV/AIDS - TB models do not consider protection, which may be less costly as an intervention measure. Notably, the interaction between HIV/AIDS and pneumonia which contribute to a significant number of mortality cases in HIV/AIDS, has not been mathematically explored. In this work, two deterministic models based on systems of ordinary differential equations, one on the co-infection of HIV/AIDS with TB and the second on the co-infection between HIV/AIDS and pneumonia are formulated and analyzed to investigate protection as a control strategy. Using the next generation matrix approach the reproduction numbers for the models are determined and the respective disease free equilibrium points are shown not to be globally asymptotically stable. This implies that reoccurrence of the disease is possible especially when the conditions favoring such reoccurrence are prevailing. Four cases of maximum protection are considered. In all cases, the endemic states are shown to exist provided that the reproduction number is greater than unity. By use of Routh-Hurwitz criterion and suitable Lyapunov functions, the endemic states are shown to be locally and globally asymptotically stable respectively. This implies that with maximum protection against one infection, the other disease can be controlled with intervention measures possibly resulting in minimal deaths. This is illustrated by the numerical simulations which shows that protection as a strategy reduces the disease prevalence in all the cases considered. Thus, from the findings, emphasis should be placed on advocacy for protection against infection as a strategy for reducing disease prevalence.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DE	CLARATION	ii		
AC	KNOWLEDGMENTS	iii		
DEI	DICATION	iv		
ABS	STRACT	v		
TAI	BLE OF CONTENTS	vi		
LIS	T OF TABLES	viii		
LIS	Γ OF FIGURES	ix		
CHAF	TER 1:INTRODUCTION	1		
1.1	Background Information	1		
1.2	Statement of the problem	3		
1.3	Objectives of the study	3		
1.4	Scope of the study	4		
1.5	Significance of the study	4		
1.6	Justification of the study	4		
1.7	Parameter values	4		
1.8	Model assumptions	5		
1.9	Model limitations	5		
CHAF	TER 2:LITERATURE REVIEW	6		
2.1	Interactions of HIV/AIDS with tuberculosis and pneumonia	6		
2.2	Mathematical models for HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and pneumonia $\ . \ . \ .$	7		
CHAF	TER 3:HIV/TB Model	11		
3.1	Model description and formulation	11		
3.2	Positivity and boundedness of solutions	15		
3.3	Reproduction number R_0			
3.4	Global stability for the disease free equilibrium			
	3.4.1 The case of maximum protection against TB	20		
	3.4.2 Local stability of the endemic equilibrium	21		
	3.4.3 Global stability of the endemic equilibrium	23		
	3.4.4 Case of maximum protection against HIV/AIDS	24		
	3.4.5 Local stability of the endemic equilibrium	25		

	3.4.6	Global stability of the endemic equilibrium	26	
	3.4.7	Numerical simulations	27	
CHAF	PTER 4	l:HIV/Pneumonia model	30	
4.1	Model	description and formulation	30	
4.2	Positi	Positivity and boundedness of solutions		
4.3	Reproduction number R_0			
4.4	Globa	l stability for the disease free equilibrium	35	
	4.4.1	The case of maximum protection against pneumonia	37	
	4.4.2	Local stability of the endemic equilibrium	37	
	4.4.3	Global stability of the endemic equilibrium	39	
	4.4.4	Case of maximum protection against HIV/AIDS	39	
	4.4.5	Local stability of the endemic equilibrium	40	
	4.4.6	Global stability of the endemic equilibrium	41	
	4.4.7	Numerical simulations	43	
CHAF	TER 5	5:Discussion, conclusion and recommendations	45	
5.1	Discus	ssion	45	
5.2	Conclu	usion	46	
5.3	Recon	nmendations	46	
REFE	RENC	ES	47	
Refe	erences		48	
APPE	NDIC	ES	53	
App	oendix A	A: Matlab code for HIV/AIDS infectives against time	53	
App	oendix H	3: Matlab code for HIV/AIDS infectives against protection	54	
App	oendix (C: Matlab code for tuberculosis infectives against time	55	
App	oendix I	D: Matlab code for tuberculosis infectives against protection	56	
App	oendix H	E: Matlab code for pneumonia infectives against time	57	
App	oendix H	F: Matlab code for pneumonia infectives against protection	58	

List of Tables

- 3.1 Parameter values used in simulation of HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis model $\ 27$
- 4.1 Parameter values used in simulation of HIV/AIDS and pneumonia model $\qquad 43$

List of Figures

3.1.1 The flow diagram for tuberculosis and HIV/AIDS co-infection	14
$3.4.1 \ {\rm Simulation}$ of model showing the evolution of HIV/AIDS against time	28
3.4.2 The graph of I_H against P_H	28
3.4.3 Evolution of TB against time	29
3.4.4 The graph of I_T against P_T	29
4.1.1 The flow diagram for the pneumonia and HIV/AIDS co-infection	32
4.4.1 Simulation of Equation $(4.4.17)$ showing the evolution of pneumonia \therefore	44
4.4.2 The graph of I_P against P_P	44

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background Information

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), whose discovery dates back to 1981[46], is a virus that overtime weakens the bodys immunity. Immunity system is the body's main defence against the threat of invasion by pathogenic organisms such as bacteria and viruses[22]. HIV destroys the $CD4^+$ T cells making the body unable to fight other infections and at this level, HIV leads to Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). With a compromised immune system, the body is at risk of opportunistic infections (OIs) such as TB and pneumonia [30, 32, 41]. Synergistic relationship between Malaria and HIV/AIDS has also been identified[28].

Respiratory infections such as TB and pneumonia account for a significant portion of illnesses among HIV/AIDS patients, since they take advantage of the weakened immune system. The mortality and morbidity associated with these illnesses is high in populations affected by poverty, social unrest and lack of proper health infrastructure, especially in the developing world[44].

TB is an airborne respiratory bacterial disease in humans caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (*Mtb*) [4]. It is a slow dynamics disease [26] and is mostly transmitted through the air when persons with pulmonary TB cough. The risk factors of TB infection are generally prolonged close interactions with infectious individuals and immunosuppression such as in HIV/AIDS[45]. The incubation period for TB is 2 to 10 weeks. Most TB infections in children and adolescents are asymptomatic [16]. When infection causes disease, signs or symptoms include; chronic cough, weight loss, fever, growth delay, night sweats and chills. Infection is often diagnosed by a positive TB skin test result. A chest x-ray film is needed for those with a positive skin test to determine the extent of the infection and the necessary treatment. In 2003, the estimated number of new TB cases was 8.8 million with 1.7 million deaths worldwide. Approximately, 27% of the new cases and 31.5 % of the deaths arose in Africa[19]. Thus there is need for protective measures to be put in place. TB is the leading cause of death among people infected with HIV/AIDS[30]. According to the world health organization (WHO) estimates about 33% of HIV patients worldwide are co-infected with TB and about half of HIV infected persons are expected to acquire TB[45, 49]. Unfortunately three quarters of all dually infected people live in sub-saharan Africa [43]. HIV infected individuals with latent TB are more likely to progress to active TB faster than those who are sero-negative for HIV[41]. Furthermore the risk of recurrent TB disease is high in HIV infected patients due to treatment failure[1, 17, 41]. About 88% of recurrent TB is due to re-infection with a different strain of mycobacterium tuberculosis[20]. This may easily lead to drug resistant strains of TB.

Pneumonia is a lung infection involving the lung alveoli (air sacs), caused by microbes, including bacteria, viruses, or fungi. The viruses which cause pneumonia include influenza A and B viruses; respiratory syncytial virus (RSV); and *haemophilus parainfluenza* types 1, 2 and 3. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* is the most common cause of bacterial pneumonia. *Haemophilus influenzae* type b, group A *streptococcus*, and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* are bacteria that also cause pneumonia. Pneumonia can be transmitted when airborne microbes from an infected individual are inhaled by a susceptible individual. Generally, the symptoms of pneumonia include: cough, difficult breathing, fever, muscle aches, loss of appetite and lethargy. Pneumonia mortality in children is very high especially in the developing world, with an estimate of 5,500 deaths per day [47].

Initially, intervention for HIV/AIDS was aimed at preventing new infections through creating awareness and advocating for change of behaviour. Currently, antiretroviral therapy(ARVs) is available as a treatment measure, which help to improve the quality of life of HIV infected individual hence reducing the morbidity and mortality related to HIV/AIDS. ARVs restore the immune system by maximal suppression of viral replication[33]. Unless coupled with counselling, the administration of ARVs can be counter productive since the individuals on ARVs can continue spreading the infection. The challenge of scarce economic resources is a threat to sustained access to ARV's. Furthermore, lack of adherence to treatment schedule is a challenge among HIV/AIDS patients. The search for HIV/AIDS vaccine has yielded no results so far. Thus effective programs to reduce HIV transmission are still needed[31]. Prevention against infection seems to be the viable alternative at the moment. Prevention against HIV/AIDS may include abstinence, being faithful, use of condoms, male circumcision among others. TB treatment involves a 4-drug regimen for a minimum of six months with multiple antibiotics and regimens shorter than six months duration are not recommended by WHO for bacteriologically unconfirmed TB[13]. Due to this long period of treatment, in some cases, patients do not adhere to the treatment schedule and this leads to treatment failure and or drug resistance to TB. Pneumonia is generally treated by use of antibiotics. However it requires that the bacteria causing the pneumonia be identified so that the right antibiotic is administered. Severe pneumonia may lead to patients being place under intensive care unit due to difficulty in breathing.

1.2 Statement of the problem

The search for a cure or vaccine for HIV/AIDS has yielded no conclusive results so far. Treatment failure and lack of adherence to treatment schedule which results in the evolution of drug resistant strains of diseases are challenges to grapple with in the management of diseases such as HIV/AIDS and TB. Due to global economic recession, provision and access to subsidised medication may not be sustainable in the long run. Existing HIV/AIDS - TB models do not consider protection, which may be less costly as an intervention measure. Notably, the interaction between HIV/AIDS and pneumonia which contribute to a significant number of mortality cases in HIV/AIDS, has not been mathematically explored.

1.3 Objectives of the study

The broad objective of this study is to develop deterministic models to study the dynamics of HIV/AIDS co-infection with TB and pneumonia in the presence of protection.

The specific objectives of this research are:

- (i) To formulate co-infection models for HIV/AIDS and TB, HIV/AIDS and pneumonia incorporating protection.
- (ii) To determine the long term behaviour of the solutions by analyzing the equilibrium points.
- (iii) To evaluate, through simulation, the role of protection in minimizing the effects of co-infection.

1.4 Scope of the study

This study will be carried out at Maseno University, Kenya, Africa. Data for simulation will be obtained from relevant sources.

1.5 Significance of the study

The findings of the study shall provide useful insights to policy makers and healthcare providers on the design and assessment of protection as an intervention strategy. The results also contribute to the body of knowledge and research on mathematical modelling of co-infections.

1.6 Justification of the study

Respiratory infections such as TB and pneumonia account for a significant portion of illnesses among HIV/AIDS patients, since they take advantage of the weakened immune system. The mortality and morbidity associated with these illnesses is high in populations affected by poverty, social unrest and lack of proper health infrastructure, especially in the developing world. In the light of scarce resources and failure to adhere to treatment schedule, protection as a strategy of control may be more viable than treatment.

1.7 Parameter values

Symbol	Parameter description	
μ	Natural death rate	
$\Lambda,\chi,arpi, u,\gamma$	Recruitment rates	
α_1, α_2	Loss of protection	
ε	Treatment rate	
$\delta_T, \delta_A, \delta_P$	Death rate due to TB, HIV/AIDS and Pneumonia	
$ au, au_1, au_2, au_3, au_4$	Rate of developing disease symptoms	
$\pi, heta, eta$	Probability of acquiring a disease	
$\iota_T, \iota_H, \chi_P, \chi_H$	Probability of success of protection	
$C,\eta, heta$	Contact rate with HIV/AIDS infectives,	
	TB and Pneumonia	
$v_1, \phi_1, v_2, \kappa_1, \kappa_2, \omega, \varphi_1, \varphi_2, \omega_1, \omega_2$	Modification parameters	
$\phi_2, \phi_3, \nu_1, \nu_2, \sigma, \gamma, \varrho, \kappa, \omega_3, \phi_1, \phi_2$	Modification parameters	
$\lambda_T, \lambda_H, \lambda_P$	Rate of infections	
R	Set of real numbers	

1.8 Model assumptions

- (i) The initial population comprises of uninfected individuals
- (ii) No simultaneous infection of an individual with two diseases
- (iii) No dual protection
- (iv) There is successful treatment of TB and pneumonia

1.9 Model limitations

- (i) The models cannot be generalized
- (ii) The population used is closed i.e a population in which neither immigration nor emigration occurs. It is governed by rate of birth, growth and death

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

The HIV/AIDS epidemic has become a major cause of mortality and has placed high demands on the world health system and economy since its discovery in 1984. It has affected all sections of the society such as the children, youths, adults women and men. In Kenya HIV prevalence is estimated based on demographic and health survey, AIDs indicator surveys and antenatal clinic sentinel surveillance. In 2011, several heads of states and governments during a high level meeting committed themselves to redouble efforts such as universal access to HIV prevention, treatment, care and support as a critical step towards ending the global HIV epidemic, with a view to achieving Millennium Development Goal 6 and to halt and begin to reverse the spread of HIV by 2015[24].

2.1 Interactions of HIV/AIDS with tuberculosis and pneumonia

About 1/3 of 39.5 million HIV infected people worldwide are co-infected with TB and up to 50 per cent of individuals living with HIV are expected to develop TB [9, 49]. Unfortunately three quarters of all dually infected people live in sub-saharan Africa[43, 50]. The risk of developing TB after an infectious contact is estimated to be 5-15%/year in HIV-1 infected patients compared to 5-10% during life time of non HIV-1 infected patients. HIV patients with latent TB progress faster to active TB due to compromised immune system [41, 50]. Tuberculosis incidences are increasing and its treatment has increasingly become more complex and difficult in HIV-1 infected patients due to the rising incidences of multi drug resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB)[9] often related to non adherence to therapy, severe immunodeficiency, concurrent anti-fungal therapy and diarrhea.

As HIV infection progresses, immunity declines and patients tend to become more susceptible to common or even rare infections. The presence of other infections including TB and pneumonia tend to increase the rate of HIV replication. This acceleration may result in higher levels of infection and rapid HIV progression to the AIDS stage[28].

The study[25] assessed the incidence and clinical characteristics of patients with HIV infection with concurrent pneumocystis pneumonia (PCP) and TB. A retrospective record review of HIV infected patients admitted with pulmonary TB and PCP during the same hospital admission from 1995 to 2004 was carried out. 2651 patients with HIV infection and possible TB or PCP were identified. There were 99 cases of PCP (81 presumptive and 18 confirmed) and 35 were new cases of TB. There were 17 patients who had a new, concurrent diagnosis of pulmonary TB and PCP. Approximately half of these patients were unaware of their HIV infections. Most were men and had a $CD4^+$ T count less than $100 cells/mm^3$.

2.2 Mathematical models for HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and pneumonia

Mathematical models give epidemiologists a powerful tool for quantitatively assessing effectiveness of control methods and uncovering mechanisms of observed infection data [34]. Some of the models proposed by various authors for describing the epidemiology as well as the epidemiological consequences of the HIV/AIDS epidemic was reviewed by[39]. Their study highlight that mathematical models have been very useful in HIV research, particularly for empirical studies on people living with HIV/AIDS(PLWHA). The enormous public health burden inflicted by TB, pneumonia and HIV/AIDS necessitates the use of mathematical modelling to gain insights into their transmission dynamics and to evaluate the control measures in place. The primary disease is HIV/AIDS and host that are already infected with HIV/AIDS become co-infected with TB and pneumonia.

A mathematical model incorporating TB treatment and the use of ART for HIV/AIDS was presented by [11]. The major challenges in the process of treatment range from non-adherence to treatment, stigma and lack of accessibility to these drugs. Unless coupled with counselling, the administration of ARVs can be counter productive since the individuals on ARVs can continue spreading the infection. The challenge of scarce economic resources is a threat to sustained access to ARV's. The search for HIV/AIDS vaccine has yielded no results so far. Thus effective preventive programs to reduce HIV/AIDS transmission are still needed.

An HIV/AIDS model incorporating complacency for the adult population was formulated by [2]. The model analysis and simulation showed that complacency resulting from dependence of HIV transmission on the number of AIDS cases in a community leads to damped periodic oscillations in the number of infective with oscillations more marked at lower rates of progression to AIDS. Their model showed that prolonged survival of AIDS cases lowers the endemic equilibrium level which is desirable. In a way this model advocates for protection which is the opposite of complacency as a means of lowering transmission rates.

A non linear mathematical model by [14] is proposed and analysed to study the transmission of HIV/AIDS in a population of varying size with treatments and vertical transmission. Stability analysis of the model showed that an increase in the rate of vertical transmission lead to an increase in the population of infectives which in turn increased the pre-AIDS and AIDS population. Vertical transmission of HIV has been significantly reduced especially for expectant mothers attending prenatal clinics. This is because those who are found to be HIV positive are placed on ARVs. Today HIV/AIDS is largely transmitted sexually[18].

A model on the spread of HIV/AIDS amongst a population of injecting drug users was developed and analysed by [15]. A threshold parameter R_o which determines the behaviour of the model was established. This model had a unique endemic equilibrium that was found to be locally stable. This model does not consider any intervention strategy. Findings from several studies have shown that drug abuse can exacerbate HIV disease progression and prevalence[21].

A non linear mathematical model of the spread of HIV/AIDS in a population of varying size with immigration of infectives was analyzed by [42]. The findings showed that the disease was always persistent if the direct immigration of infectives was allowed in the community. In the absence of inflow of infectives the endemicity of the disease is found to be higher if pre-AIDS individuals also interacted sexually in comparison to the case when they did not take part in sexual interactions. Currently there are no laws which prohibit immigration on the basis of one's HIV/AIDS status. This really poses a challenge especially in the light of sex tourism. Consequently, protection may be the best strategy in reducing new HIV/AIDS infections.

A deterministic model that incorporates the joint dynamics of TB and HIV/AIDS has been considered by [30]. They provided general insights into the potential effects of HIV infection on TB and vice versa. Their model did not include protection and treatment though they proposed that treatment be incorporated into models of HIV/TB co-infection. Synergistic interaction between HIV and mycobacterium tuberculosis using a deterministic model, which incorporated many of the essential biological and epidemiological features of the two diseases was addressed by [40]. In their analysis, HIV only model was shown to have a globally asymptotically stable disease -free equilibrium whenever the reproduction number was less than unity and had a unique endemic equilibrium whenever the number exceeded unity. TB only model underwent backward bifurcation, where the stable free equilibrium coexisted with a stable endemic equilibrium when the associated reproduction threshold was less than unity. Their full model, with both HIV and TB was simulated to evaluate the impact of the various treatment strategies. The study showed that the HIV only strategy saved more cases of the mixed infection than the TB only strategy and for low treatment rates, the mixed only strategy saved the least number of cases in comparison to the other strategies. However, as already pointed out, treatment has its challenges namely; non-adherence, stigma and accessibility.

An HIV/AIDS and TB co-infection model which considers antiretroviral therapy for the AIDS cases and treatment of all forms of TB was presented by [11]. This model did not incorporate protection for the two diseases. They found out that treatment of AIDS cases resulted in a significant reduction of numbers of individuals progressing to active TB and treatment of latent and active forms of TB resulted in delayed onset of the AIDS stage of HIV infection. The danger of this delay is that in the absence of counselling people do not embrace protection and may be complacent. This may accelerate HIV incidence rates.

Review and comparison of mathematical models of TB dynamics was done by [6]. They presented a spartial stochastic individual based model and a set of delay differential equations encapsulating the same biological assumptions. They compared two different assumptions about partial immunity and explored the effect of treatment. The challenges that face TB treatment range from incorrect drug prescription to non adherence among others and this can lead to treatment failure. This model does not incorporate protection against TB.

A mathematical model for the co-infection of malaria and pneumonia was developed and analyzed by [23]. Protection as a strategy against infection was not incorporate. Deterministic model for malaria and HIV-coinfection, incorporating protection against malaria and HIV positive immigrants in the community was developed by [3]. There was no disease free point, but an initial infective immigration rate existed and a small perturbation around this point approached global stability if there was reduced susceptibility to HIV by malaria infected individuals. Also, if HIV infectives are protected against malaria, the same attains global stability. They showed that protection against both diseases altered the qualitative behaviour of solutions. Motivated by these results, we propose to investigate the effect of protection on the transmission dynamics of HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and pneumonia in two separate co infection models.

CHAPTER 3

HIV/TB Model

3.1 Model description and formulation

We formulate a model in which total human population at any time t, denoted by N(t) is subdivided into classes, S(t) the class of individuals susceptible to both TB and HIV/AIDS infection, P_T , individuals who are protected against TB, This protection is lost at the rate α_1 . The class L_T consists of individuals who are asymptomatically infected with TB infection. This infection occurs at the rate λ_T , i.e the rate at which the disease spread among people. In the absence of treatment, TB symptoms are developed at the rate τ_1 . The class I_T comprises of individuals symptomatically infected with TB. Treatment for TB is assumed to be successful and is done at the rate ε . Thus the class T_T consists of individuals who have recovered from TB infection. Mortality occurs among active TB patients at the rate δ_T , while natural death is assumed to occur in all classes at the rate μ .

The class P_H consist of individuals who are protected against HIV/AIDS infection. This protection may be lost due to risky behaviour at the rate α_2 . Since the modes of transmission for the two diseases are different we do not assume simultaneous infection of an individual with the two diseases. Furthermore, for purposes of simplicity we do not assume dual protection for TB and HIV/AIDS. The class I_H is made up of individuals who are asymptomatically infected with HIV/AIDS. This infection occurs at the rate λ_H . In the absence of intervention (therapy), individuals develop symptoms of HIV/AIDS and progress from the class I_H to the class I_A at the rate τ_2 . Mortality occurs among HIV/AIDS patients at the rate δ_A .

Individuals in the class I_H can acquire TB at the rate $v_1\lambda_T$ and progress to the class I_{HL} , where v_1 is a modification parameter. This group of individuals develop TB symptoms at the rate τ_3 , where $\tau_3 > \tau_1$, and progress to the class I_{HT} . Individuals in the class I_A can also acquire TB at the rate $v_2\lambda_T$, where $v_2 > v_1$ and progress to the class I_{AL} . This group of individuals develop TB symptoms at the rate τ_4 , where $\tau_4 > \tau_3$, and progress to the class I_{AT} . In the absence of intervention (therapy), individuals develop symptoms of HIV/AIDS and progress from the class I_{HT} to the class I_{AT} at the rate

 $v_3\tau_2$, where v_3 is a modification. Upon effective TB treatment, treated individuals in the class I_{AT} will move back to the class I_A . Mortality occurs due to the dual infection of HIV/AIDS and TB at the rate δ_{AT} .

Individuals in the class I_L can acquire HIV/AIDS at a rate $\kappa_1 \lambda_H$ and progress to the class I_{LH} Individuals in the class I_T can acquire HIV/AIDS at a rate $\kappa_2 \lambda_H$ and progress to the class I_{TH} . κ_1 and κ_1 are modification parameters and $\kappa_2 > \kappa_1$.

The total human population at any time t is defined as

$$N(t) = S(t) + P_T(t) + P_H(t) + I_H(t) + I_{HL}(t) + I_L(t) + I_T(t) + T_T(t) + I_{HT}(t) + I_A(t) + I_{AL}(t) + I_{AT}(t)$$

$$(3.1.1)$$

We define the rate at which susceptible individuals acquire TB as

$$\lambda_T = \frac{\theta \eta [\phi_1 I_T + \phi_2 I_{TH} + \phi_3 I_{AT}]}{N(t)}$$
(3.1.2)

where θ is the probability that a susceptible individual will acquire TB upon contact with TB infected individuals and η is the contact rate with TB infected individuals while and $\phi_3 > \phi_2 > \phi_1$ are modification parameters.

The rate at which a susceptible individual acquire HIV/AIDS is defined as

$$\lambda_H = \frac{\pi C [I_H + \gamma [I_{LH} + \sigma I_{TH}] + \omega [I_A + \nu_1 [I_{AL} + \nu_2 I_{AT}]]]}{N(t)}$$
(3.1.3)

where π is the probability that susceptible individuals will acquire HIV upon effective contact with an HIV infected individual and C is the effective contact rate with HIV/AIDS infected individuals. This effective contact rate may include, sexual intercourse with an infected individual, blood transfusion with infected blood, sharing sharp objects with HIV/AIDS infected individuals and vertical transmission from mother to child during birth and through breastfeeding. while γ , σ , ω , ν are modification parameters.

Disease prevalence is the number of people in a population who have a disease at a given time. For HIV/AIDS, this prevalence is given by

$$\frac{[I_H + \gamma [I_{LH} + \sigma I_{TH}] + \omega [I_A + \nu_1 [I_{AL} + \nu_2 I_{AT}]]]}{N(t)}$$
(3.1.4)

It is assumed that an individual who is asymptomatic infected with HIV/AIDS and has latent TB is more infectious of HIV/AIDS than one asymptomatically infected with HIV/AIDS. The same assumption is made for an individual actively infected with TB and is asymptomatic with HIV/AIDS. Similarly AIDS individuals are more infectious than individuals asymptomatic with HIV due to high viral load[28].

The aim is to study the effect of protection for TB and HIV/AIDS in the co-infection model. Protection against these two infections involves limiting exposure to risk factors that can lead to infection. The risk factors for HIV involves; having unprotected anal or vaginal sex, having another sexually transmitted infection such as syphilis, herpes, chlamydia, gonorrhoea and bacterial vaginosis; sharing contaminated needles, syringes and other injecting equipment and drug solutions when injecting drugs; receiving unsafe injections, blood transfusions, medical procedures that involve unsterile cutting or piercing; and experiencing accidental needle stick injuries [7]. Persons at high risk for developing TB disease fall into two categories; persons who have been recently infected with TB bacteria and persons with medical conditions that weaken the immune system.

Let ι_T and ι_H denote the probability of success of protection against TB and HIV/AIDS respectively. The modified rate of infection for TB is λ_T^p

$$\lambda_T^p = \frac{\theta \eta (1 - \iota_T) [\phi_1 I_T + \phi_2 I_{TH} + \phi_3 I_{AT}]}{N(t)}$$
(3.1.5)

and for HIV is

$$\lambda_{H}^{p} = \frac{\pi C(1 - \iota_{H})[I_{H} + \gamma[I_{LH} + \sigma I_{TH}] + \omega[I_{A} + \nu_{1}[I_{AL} + \nu_{2}I_{AT}]]]}{N(t)}$$
(3.1.6)



Figure 3.1.1: The flow diagram for tuberculosis and HIV/AIDS co-infection.

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \varpi - \chi)\Lambda + \alpha_1 P_T + \alpha_2 P_H - (\mu + \lambda_H + \lambda_T)S$$

$$\frac{dP_T}{dt} = \varpi\Lambda - (\mu + \alpha_1 + \lambda_H)P_T$$
(3.1.7)
$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \chi\Lambda - (\alpha_2 + \mu + \lambda_T +)P_H$$

$$\frac{dI_H}{dt} = \lambda_H P_T + \lambda_H S - (\upsilon_1 \lambda_T + \mu + \tau_2)I_H$$

$$\frac{dI_A}{dt} = \tau_2 I_H + \varepsilon I_{AT} - (\mu + \delta_A + \upsilon_2 \lambda_T)I_A$$

$$\frac{dI_L}{dt} = \lambda_T P_H + \lambda_T S - (\mu + \kappa_1 \lambda_H + \tau_1)I_L$$

$$\frac{dI_T}{dt} = \tau_1 I_L - (\mu + \delta_T + \varepsilon + \kappa_2 \lambda_H)I_T$$

$$\frac{dI_{HL}}{dt} = \upsilon_1 \lambda_T I_H + \kappa_1 \lambda_H I_L - (\mu + \tau_3)I_{HL}$$

$$\frac{dI_{HT}}{dt} = \kappa_2 \lambda_H I_T + \tau_3 I_{HL} - (\mu + \delta_T + \upsilon_3 \tau_2)I_{HT}$$

$$\frac{dI_{AL}}{dt} = \upsilon_3 \tau_2 I_{HT} + \tau_4 I_{AL} - (\mu + \delta_T + \delta_A + \delta_{AT} + \varepsilon)I_{AT}$$

where $\varpi \Lambda$ is the constant recruitment rate into the class of individuals protected against TB, $\chi \Lambda$ is the constant recruitment rate into the class of individuals protected against HIV and $(1 - \varpi - \chi)\Lambda$ is the constant recruitment rate into the class of susceptible individuals to both TB and HIV virus. Every individual is assumed to be susceptible to both infections. It is assumed that there is no simultaneous infection with HIV/AIDS and TB because of the different transmission routes. It is also assumed that when one is successfully treated against TB recovery does not not confer permanent immunity against TB infection.

3.2 Positivity and boundedness of solutions

Since the model deals with human population, all the state variables are positive at all time t. We show that our solutions are bounded in the set Γ where

$$\{S(t), P_H(t), P_T(t), I_H(t), I_{HL}(t), I_L(t), I_T(t), T_T(t), I_{TH}(t), I_A(t), I_{AL}(t), I_{AT}(t)\} \in \Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^{12}_+.$$
(3.2.1)

Taking the time derivative of N(t) from Equation (3.1.7), we have

$$\frac{dN(t)}{dt} = \frac{dS}{dt} + \frac{dP_T}{dt} + \frac{dP_H}{dt} + \frac{dI_H}{dt} + \frac{dI_A}{dt} + \frac{dI_L}{dt} + \frac{dI_L}{dt} + \frac{dI_T}{dt} + \frac{dI_{TT}}{dt} + \frac{dI_{HL}}{dt} + \frac{dI_{HT}}{dt} + \frac{dI_{AL}}{dt} + \frac{dI_{AT}}{dt} = \Lambda - \mu N - (\delta_T + \delta_A + \delta_{AT})I_{AT} - \delta_A I_{AL}$$
(3.2.2)

$$\frac{dN(t)}{dt} = \Lambda - \mu N(t) - (\delta_T + \delta_A + \delta_{AT})I_{AT} - \delta_A I_{AL}$$
(3.2.3)

thus

$$\frac{dN(t)}{dt} \le \Lambda - \mu N(t) \tag{3.2.4}$$

$$dN(t) + (\mu N(t) - \Lambda)dt \le 0 \tag{3.2.5}$$

$$dN(t)e^{\mu_t} + (e^{\mu_t}\mu N(t) - e^{\mu_t}\Lambda)dt \le 0$$
(3.2.6)

Integrating we have

$$\int (N,t)dt = \int ((e^{\mu_t} \mu N(t) - e^{\mu_t} \Lambda))dt \le 0$$
 (3.2.7)

$$(N,t) = e^{\mu_t} N(t) - e^{\mu_t} \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} \le b$$
 (3.2.8)

therefore

$$e^{\mu_t} N(t) - e^{\mu_t} \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} \le b \tag{3.2.9}$$

at t = 0

$$N(t) - \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} = b \tag{3.2.10}$$

substituting **b** we get

$$e^{\mu_t}N(t) - e^{\mu_t}\frac{\Lambda}{\mu} = N(t) - \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$$
 (3.2.11)

dividing by e^{μ_t} we get

$$N(t) \le \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} + (N(t) - \frac{\Lambda}{\mu})e^{-(\mu_t)}$$
 (3.2.12)

as $t \to \infty$ we have

$$N(t) \le \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} \tag{3.2.13}$$

which shows that the solutions are bounded. Having shown that our solutions are positive and bounded for all $t \ge 0$ in the region Γ , the model is well posed and biologically meaningful and may now be analyzed in the same region.

3.3 Reproduction number R_0

The basic reproduction number is the average number of secondary infections due to a single infectious individual in a fully susceptible population[38]. It is the spectral radius of a matrix

$$FV^{-1}$$
 (3.3.1)

where F is the Jacobian of \mathcal{F} , where \mathcal{F} is the rate of appearance of new infections in compartment and V is the Jacobian of \mathcal{V} , where \mathcal{V} is the rate of transfer of individuals into and out of compartment. FV^{-1} is calculated by the method of next generation matrix [37]. The disease free equilibrium of Equation (3.1.7) is given by

$$E^{0} = \{S, P_{H}, P_{T}, I_{H}, I_{A}, I_{L}, I_{T}, T_{T}, I_{HL}, I_{HT}, I_{AL}, I_{AT}\} = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$$
(3.3.2)

We define ${\mathcal F}$ as

$$\mathcal{F} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_H P_T + \lambda_H S \\ 0 \\ \lambda_T P_H + \lambda_T S \\ 0 \\ \upsilon_1 \lambda_T I_H + \kappa_1 \lambda_H I_L \\ \kappa_2 \lambda_H I_T \\ \upsilon_2 \lambda_T I_A \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.3.3)

We also define \mathcal{V} as

$$\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}^- - \mathcal{V}^+ \tag{3.3.4}$$

where \mathcal{V}^- is the rate of transfer of individuals out of a compartment and \mathcal{V}^+ is the rate of transfer of individuals into compartment. Thus \mathcal{V} is given by

$$\mathcal{V} = \begin{pmatrix} (\upsilon_1 \lambda_T + \mu + \tau_2) I_H \\ -\tau_2 I_H - \varepsilon I_{AT} + (\mu + \delta_A + \upsilon_2 \lambda_T) I_A \\ (\mu + \kappa_1 \lambda_H + \tau_1) I_L \\ -\tau_1 I_L + (\mu + \delta_T + \varepsilon + \kappa_2 \lambda_H) I_T \\ (\mu + \tau_3) I_{HL} \\ -\tau_3 I_{HL} + (\mu + \delta_T + \upsilon_3 \tau_2) I_{HT} \\ (\mu + \delta_A + \tau_4) I_{AL} \\ -\upsilon_3 \tau_2 I_{HT} - \tau_4 I_{AL} + (\mu + \delta_T + \delta_A + \delta_{AT} + \varepsilon) I_{AT} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.3.5)

The Jacobian of \mathcal{F} at the disease free equilibrium denoted as F is given by

where $\vartheta_1 = \pi c(1 - \iota_H), \vartheta_2 = \pi c(1 - \iota_H)\omega, \vartheta_3 = \pi C(1 - \iota_H)\gamma, \vartheta_4 = \pi C(1 - \iota_H)\gamma\sigma, \vartheta_5 = \pi C(1 - \iota_H)\omega\nu_1, \vartheta_6 = \pi C(1 - \iota_H)\omega\nu_2, \vartheta_7 = \theta\eta(1 - \iota_T)\Omega, \vartheta_8 = \theta\eta(1 - \iota_T)\Omega\phi_2, \vartheta_9 = \theta\eta(1 - \iota_T)\Omega\phi_4$. Similarly, the Jacobian of \mathcal{V} at the disease free equilibrium is denoted by V and is given by

$$V = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\tau_2 & \varphi_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon \\ 0 & 0 & \varphi_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\tau_1 & \varphi_4 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \varphi_5 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\tau_3 & \varphi_6 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \varphi_7 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \psi_3\tau_2 & \tau_4 & \varphi_8 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.3.7)

Where $\varphi_1 = \mu + \tau_2$, $\varphi_2 = \mu + \delta_A$, $\varphi_3 = \mu + \tau_1$, $\varphi_4 = \mu + \delta_T + \varepsilon$, $\varphi_5 = \mu + \tau_3$, $\varphi_6 = \mu + \upsilon_3 \tau_2 + \delta_T$, $\varphi_7 = \mu + \delta_A + \tau_4$ and $\varphi_8 = \mu + \delta_A + \delta_T + \delta_{AT} + \varepsilon$ Thus the eigenvalues of the matrix FV^{-1} are $R_T = \frac{\theta\eta(1-\iota_T)\tau_1\phi_1}{(\tau_1+\mu)(\delta_T+\mu+\varepsilon)}$ and $R_H = \frac{\pi C(1-\iota_H)(\tau_1\omega+\delta_A+\mu)}{(\delta_A+\mu)(\mu+\tau_2)}$. The spectral radius of FV^{-1} is $max\{R_T, R_H\}$. Therefore, the effective reproduction number of model (2.1.7) is denoted as R_{HT} and is defined as $R_0 = max\{R_T, R_H\}$.

The reproduction number R_T gives the expected number of secondary TB infection produced by a single TB infectious individual during his/her infectious period when introduced into a completely TB susceptible population. Similarly, the reproduction number R_H gives the expected number of secondary HIV/AIDS infection produced by a single HIV/AIDS infectious individual during his/her infectious period when introduced into a completely HIV/AIDS susceptible population. Since Equation (3.1.7) satisfy conditions A1 - A5 [48],then the disease free equilibrium $E^0 = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ is locally asymptotically stable if $R_{HT} < 1$ and unstable if $R_{HT} > 1$. In the absence of protection $\iota_T = \iota_H = 0$, implying that the probability of success of protection is considered to be zero.

3.4 Global stability for the disease free equilibrium

For global stability of the DFE, the technique by [5] is used. There are two conditions that if met guarantee the global asymptotic stability of the disease free state. Equation (3.1.7) may be written in the form

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = K(X,Z)$$

$$\frac{dZ}{dt} = G(X,Z), G(X,0) = 0$$
(3.4.1)

where $X \in \mathbb{R}^4$ and $X = \{S, P_T, P_H, T_T\}$ denotes the number of uninfected individuals and $Z \in \mathbb{R}^8$ where $Z = \{I_H, I_A, I_L, I_T, I_{HL}, I_{HT}, I_{AL}, I_{AT}\}$ denotes the number of infected individuals. $E^O = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ denotes the disease free equilibrium point of this system where

$$X^* = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu})$$

conditions (2.4.2) may be met to guarantee global asymptotic stability

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = K(X,0), X^* \text{ is globally asymptotic stable}$$

$$G(X,Z) = AZ - \widehat{G}(X,Z), \widehat{G}(X,Z) \ge 0 \forall (X,Z) \in \Gamma$$
(3.4.2)

where $A = D_z G(X^*, 0)$ is an M matrix and Γ is the region where the model has biological meaning.

Theorem

If system (3.4.1) satisfies conditions (3.4.2), then the fixed point

is a globally asymptotically stable equilibrium of the system (3.4.1) provided that $R_{HT} < 1$ and the assumptions in (3.4.2) are satisfied.

Proof

Consider $K(X,0) = (\Lambda - \mu S)$ and $G(X,Z) = AZ - \widehat{G}(X,Z)$ where

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} -h_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \tau_2 & -h_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \varepsilon \\ 0 & 0 & -h_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \tau_1 & -h_4 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -h_5 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \tau_3 & -h_6 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -h_7 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & v_3\tau_2 & \tau_4 & -h_8 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4.3)

where $h_1 = \mu + \tau_2$, $h_2 = \mu + \delta_A$, $h_3 = \mu + \tau_1$, $h_4 = \mu + \delta_T + \varepsilon$, $h_5 = \mu + \tau_3$, $h_6 = \mu + \delta_T + \nu_3 \tau_2$, $h_7 = \mu + \delta_A + \tau_4$, $h_8 = \mu + \delta_T + \delta_A + \delta_{AT} + \varepsilon$

and

$$\hat{G}(X,Z) = \begin{pmatrix} G_1 \\ G_2 \\ G_3 \\ G_4 \\ G_5 \\ G_6 \\ G_7 \\ G_8 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\lambda_H (P_T + S) + v_1 \lambda_T \\ + v_2 \lambda_T \\ -\lambda_T (P_H + S) + \kappa_1 \lambda_H \\ \kappa_2 \lambda_H \\ -(v_1 \lambda_T + \kappa_1 \lambda_H) \\ -(\kappa_2 \lambda_H) \\ -(v_2 \lambda_T) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4.4)

Since all the conditions in Equation (3.4.2) are not satisfied because $G_5, G_6, G_7 < 0$, the DFE E^0 may not be globally asymptotically stable, implying that we anticipate an outbreak when particular conditions which favour the outbreak of the disease are prevailing.

3.4.1 The case of maximum protection against TB

Suppose that there are no new TB infections and the only infection that spread in the population is that of HIV/AIDS. This can be achieved by ensuring that the probability of success of protection is high and can be considered as $\iota_T = 1$. Thus Equation (3.1.7)

will be reduced to

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \chi - \varpi)\Lambda + \alpha_2 P_H - (\mu + \lambda_H)S$$

$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \chi\Lambda - (\alpha_2 + \mu)P_H$$

$$\frac{dP_T}{dt} = \varpi\Lambda - (\mu + \lambda_H)P_T$$

$$\frac{dI_H}{dt} = \lambda_H(S + P_T) - (\mu + \tau_2)I_H$$

$$\frac{dI_A}{dt} = \tau_2 I_H - (\mu + \delta_A)I_A$$
(3.4.5)

The rate of infection for Equation (3.4.5) is defined as

$$\lambda_{H}^{h} = \frac{\pi C (1 - \iota_{H}) (I_{H} + \omega I_{A})}{N(t)}$$
(3.4.6)

with the effective reproduction number

$$R_H = \frac{\pi C (1 - \iota_H) (\delta_A + \mu + \omega \tau_2) (\mu (1 - \chi) + \alpha_2)}{(\delta_A + \mu) (\mu + \tau_2) (\mu + \alpha_2)}.$$
(3.4.7)

An endemic state $I_H^* > 0$ where

$$I_{H}^{*} = \frac{\Lambda(R_{H} - 1)(\delta_{A} + \mu)}{(C\pi)(1 - \iota_{H})(\delta_{A} + \mu + \omega\tau_{2}) - \delta_{A}\tau_{2}}$$
(3.4.8)

exists provided $R_H > 1$ with $\pi C < \pi C \iota_H + \tau_2$ since $(1 - \iota_H) > 0$

3.4.2 Local stability of the endemic equilibrium

The first four equations in Equation (3.4.5) do not contain the class I_A , and so we can analyze the reduced system

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \chi - \varpi)\Lambda + \alpha_2 P_H - (\mu + \lambda_H^h)S$$

$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \chi\Lambda - (\alpha_2 + \mu)P_H$$

$$\frac{dP_T}{dt} = \varpi\Lambda - (\mu + \lambda_H^h)P_T$$

$$\frac{dI_H}{dt} = \lambda_H^h(S + P_T) - (\mu + \tau_2)I_H$$
(3.4.9)

The Jacobian matrix of equation (3.4.9) at $E^*(S^*, P_H^*, P_T^*I_H^*)$, denoted as $J(E^*)$ is given by

$$J(E^*) = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda_H^h) & \alpha_2 & 0 & \frac{-\beta C(1-\iota_H)S^*}{N(t)} \\ 0 & -(\alpha_2 + \mu) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -(\mu + \lambda_H^h) & \frac{-\beta C(1-\iota_H)P_T^*}{N(t)} \\ \lambda_H^h & 0 & \lambda_H^h & -(\mu + \tau_2) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4.10)

Clearly $-(\mu + \alpha_2)$ is an eigenvalue of Equation (3.4.10). The other eigenvalues are obtained from the reduced matrix B where

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda_{H}^{h}) & 0 & \frac{-\beta C(1 - \iota_{H})S^{*}}{N(t)} \\ 0 & -(\mu + \lambda_{H}^{h}) & \frac{-\beta C(1 - \iota_{H})P_{T}^{*}}{N(t)} \\ \lambda_{H}^{h} & \lambda_{H}^{h} & -(\mu + \tau_{2}) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4.11)

An important creterion by Routh-Hurwitz gives the necessary and sufficient conditions for all the roots of the characteristic polynomial (with real coefficients) to lie in the left half of the complex plane. In other words, all the roots of the polynomial are negative or have negative real roots iff the determinants of all Hurwitz matrices are positive [52].

Clearly, the trace of Equation (3.4.11) is negative and the determinant of Equation (3.4.11) is given by

$$detB = \left[\frac{I_{H}^{*}(1-\iota_{H})\eta\theta}{N(t)} + \mu\right]\left[\frac{I_{H}^{*}(1-\iota_{H})(S^{*}-P_{T}^{*})\eta\theta}{N^{2}(t)} (I_{H}^{*}(\mu+\tau) - (1-\iota_{H})\eta\theta + \mu + \tau) - \mu(\mu+\tau)\right]$$
(3.4.12)

detB > 0 provided that

$$\left[\frac{I_{H}^{*}(1-\iota_{H})(S^{*}-P_{T}^{*})\eta\theta}{N^{2}(t)}(I_{H}^{*}(\mu+\tau)-(1-\iota_{H})\eta\theta+\mu+\tau)\geq(\mu(\mu+\tau))\right]$$
(3.4.13)

Thus, by Routh-Hurwitz creteria, the endemic state $E^*(S^*, P_H^*, P_T^*I_H^*)$ is locally asymptotically stable provided that inequality (3.4.13) holds.

3.4.3 Global stability of the endemic equilibrium

We obtain the global stability by means of Lyapunov's direct method and LaSalle's invariance principle[12]. For Equation (3.4.5), consider the Lyapunov function

$$L: (S, P_H, P_T, I_H, I_A) \in \Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^5_+ : S, P_H, P_T, I_H, I_A > 0$$
(3.4.14)

where

$$L: (S, P_H, P_T, I_H, I_A) = \lambda_H^h (S - S^* - S^* \log \frac{S}{S^*}) + \lambda_H^h (P_H - P_H^* - P_H^* \log \frac{P_H}{P_H^*}) + \lambda_H^h (P_T - P_T^* - P_T^* \log \frac{P_T}{P_T^*}) + \lambda_H^h (I_H - I_H^* - I_H^* \log \frac{I_H}{I_H^*}) + \lambda_H^h (I_A - I_A^* - I_A^* \log \frac{I_A}{I_A^*})$$

$$(3.4.15)$$

L is C^1 in the interior of Γ . E^* is the global minimum of L on Γ and $L : (S, P_H, P_T, I_H, I_A) = 0$. The time derivative of L is given by

$$\frac{dL}{dt} = \dot{L} = \lambda_{H}^{h} (1 - \frac{S^{*}}{S}) \frac{dS}{dt} + \lambda_{H}^{h} (1 - \frac{P_{H}^{*}}{P_{H}}) \frac{dP_{H}}{dt} + \lambda_{H}^{h} (1 - \frac{P_{T}^{*}}{P_{T}}) \frac{dP_{T}}{dt} + \lambda_{H}^{h} (1 - \frac{I_{A}^{*}}{P_{T}}) \frac{dI_{A}}{dt} \\
= -\lambda_{H}^{h} (\frac{S - S^{*}}{S}) [(\mu + \lambda_{H}^{h})(S - S^{*}) + \alpha_{2}(P_{H} - P_{H}^{*})] \\
-\lambda_{H}^{h} (\frac{P_{H} - P_{H}^{*}}{P_{H}}) [(\alpha_{2} + \mu)(P_{H} - P_{H}^{*})] - \lambda_{H}^{h} (\frac{P_{T} - P_{T}^{*}}{P_{T}}) [(\mu + \lambda_{H}^{h})(P_{T} - P_{T}^{*})] \\
-\lambda_{H}^{h} (\frac{I_{H} - I_{H}^{*}}{I_{H}}) [(\mu + \tau_{2})(I_{H} - I_{H}^{*})] - \lambda_{H}^{h} (\frac{I_{A} - I_{A}^{*}}{I_{A}}) [(\mu + \delta_{A})(I_{A} - I_{A}^{*})] \\$$
(3.4.16)

hence $\dot{L} \leq 0$ is negative. We see that $\dot{L} = 0$ at E^* . Thus \dot{L} is negative definite and the largest compact invariant set in $\{S, P_H, P_T, I_H, I_A\} \in \Gamma : \dot{L} = 0$ is the Singlet on E^* , where E^* is the endemic equilibrium. Thus E^* is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of Γ . Mathematically, we have shown that protection produces desired results in terms of disease intervention. Therefore, at this point, we see the positive impact protection against one disease has on the dynamics of the other disease.

3.4.4 Case of maximum protection against HIV/AIDS

Assuming that there is no new HIV/AIDS infections in the TB and HIV/AIDS coinfection model, the resulting model will be

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \varpi - \chi)\Lambda + \alpha_1 P_T - (\mu + \lambda_T)S$$

$$\frac{dP_T}{dt} = \varpi \Lambda - (\mu + \alpha_1)P_T$$

$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \chi \Lambda - (\mu + \lambda_T)P_H$$

$$\frac{dI_L}{dt} = \lambda_T (S + P_H) - (\mu + \tau_1)I_L$$

$$\frac{dI_T}{dt} = \tau_1 I_L - (\mu + \delta_T + \varepsilon)I_T$$

$$\frac{dT_T}{dt} = \varepsilon I_T - \mu T_T$$
(3.4.17)

The rate of infection for Equation (3.4.17) is

$$\lambda_T^t = \frac{\theta \eta (1 - \iota_T) I_T}{N(t)} \tag{3.4.18}$$

and the effective reproduction number is given by

$$R_T = \frac{\theta \eta (1 - \iota_T) (\mu (1 - \varpi) + \alpha_1)}{(\delta_T + \mu + \varepsilon) (\mu + \tau_1) (\mu + \alpha_1)}$$
(3.4.19)

An endemic state $I_L^\ast > 0$ where

$$I_L^* = \frac{\Lambda(\delta_A + \varepsilon + \mu)(R_T - 1)}{(\eta \theta \tau_1)(1 - \iota_T)}$$
(3.4.20)

exist provided that $R_T > 1$ with $(1 - \iota_T) > 0$.

3.4.5 Local stability of the endemic equilibrium

Since the first five equations of Equation (3.4.17) are independent of T_T , we analyze the reduced system

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \varpi - \chi)\Lambda + \alpha_1 P_T - (\mu + \lambda_T^t)S$$

$$\frac{dP_T}{dt} = \varpi\Lambda - (\mu + \alpha_1)P_T$$

$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \chi\Lambda - (\mu + \lambda_T^t)P_H$$

$$\frac{dI_L}{dt} = \lambda_T^t (S + P_H) - (\mu + \tau_1)I_L$$

$$\frac{dI_T}{dt} = \tau_1 I_L - (\mu + \delta_T + \varepsilon)I_T$$
(3.4.21)

The Jacobian of Equation (3.4.21) at the endemic state $E^*(S^*, P_H^*, P_T^*, I_L^*, I_T^*)$ is given by

$$J(E^*) = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda_T^t) & \alpha_1 & 0 & 0 & \frac{-\theta\eta S^*(1-\iota_T)}{N(t)} \\ 0 & -(\mu + \alpha_1) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -(\mu + \lambda_T^t) & 0 & \frac{-\theta\eta P_H^*(1-\iota_T)}{N(t)} \\ \lambda_T^t & 0 & \lambda_T^t & -(\mu + \tau_1) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \tau_1 & -(\mu + \delta_T + \varepsilon) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4.22)

Since $-(\mu + \alpha_1)$ is an eigenvalue of Equation (3.5.22). Next we consider the reduced matrix

$$B_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda_{T}^{t}) & 0 & 0 & \frac{-\theta\eta S^{*}(1-\iota_{T})}{N(t)} \\ 0 & -(\mu + \lambda_{T}^{t}) & 0 & \frac{-\theta\eta P_{H}^{*}(1-\iota_{T})}{N(t)} \\ \lambda_{T}^{t} & \lambda_{T}^{t} & -(\mu + \tau_{1}) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \tau_{1} & -(\mu + \delta_{T} + \varepsilon) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4.23)

The trace of Equation (3.4.23) is negative and the determinant is given by

$$det B_1 = \frac{1}{N(t)} \{ [I_T^*(1 - \iota_T)\theta\eta + N\mu]$$
$$(I_T^*)^2 (1 + P_H^*)(1 - \iota_T)^3 \theta^3 \eta^3 + (N(t))^2 [(I_T^*)^2 (1 - \iota_T)\theta\eta + N(t)\mu](\mu + \delta_T + \varepsilon)(\mu + \tau_1) \}$$
$$(3.4.24)$$

Which is positive since $(1 - \iota_T) > 0$. Thus, the endemic state $E^*(S^*, P_H^*, P_T^*, I_L^*, I_T^*)$ is locally asymptotically stable.

3.4.6 Global stability of the endemic equilibrium

Consider the non-linear Lyapunov function

$$L_e: (S, P_H, P_T, I_L, I_T, T_T) \in \Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^6_+ : S, P_H, P_T, I_L, I_T, T_T > 0$$
(3.4.25)

defined as

$$L_{e}: (S, P_{H}, P_{T}, I_{L}, I_{T}, T_{T}) = \lambda_{T}^{t}(S - S^{*} - S^{*}\log\frac{S}{S^{*}}) + \lambda_{T}^{t}(P_{H} - P_{H}^{*} - P_{H}^{*}\log\frac{P_{H}}{P_{H}^{*}}) + \lambda_{T}^{t}(P_{T} - P_{T}^{*} - P_{T}^{*}\log\frac{P_{T}}{P_{T}^{*}}) + \lambda_{T}^{t}(I_{L} - I_{L}^{*} - I_{L}^{*}\log\frac{I_{L}}{I_{L}^{*}}) + \lambda_{T}^{t}(I_{T} - I_{T}^{*} - I_{T}^{*}\log\frac{I_{T}}{I_{T}^{*}}) + \lambda_{T}^{t}(I_{T} - T_{T}^{*} - T_{T}^{*}\log\frac{T_{T}}{T_{T}^{*}})$$

$$(3.4.26)$$

where L_e is C^1 in the interior of Γ . E^* is the global minimum of L_e on Γ and L_e : $(S, P_H, P_T, I_L, I_T, T_T) = 0$. The time derivative of L_e is given by

$$\frac{dL_e}{dt} = \dot{L}_e = \lambda_T^t (1 - \frac{S^*}{S}) \frac{dS}{dt} + \lambda_T^t (1 - \frac{P_H^*}{P_H}) \frac{dP_H}{dt} + \lambda_T^t (1 - \frac{P_T^*}{P_T}) \frac{dP_T}{dt} + \lambda_T^t (1 - \frac{I_L^*}{I_L}) \frac{dI_L}{dt} + \lambda_T^t (1 - \frac{I_T^*}{I_T}) \frac{dI_T}{dt} + \lambda_T^t (1 - \frac{T_T^*}{T_T}) \frac{dT_T}{dt} \\
= -\lambda_T^t (\frac{S - S^*}{S}) [(\mu + \lambda_T^t)(S - S^*) + \alpha_1 (P_T - P_T^*)] \\
-\lambda_T^t (\frac{P_T - P_T^*}{P_T}) [(\alpha_1 + \mu)(P_T - P_T^*)] - \lambda_T^t (\frac{P_H - P_H^*}{P_H}) [(\mu + \lambda_T^t)(P_H - P_H^*)] \\
-\lambda_T^t (\frac{I_L - I_L^*}{I_L}) [(\mu + \delta_T + \varepsilon)(I_T - I_T^*)] - \lambda_T^t (\frac{T_T - T_T^*}{T_T}) [\mu(T_T - T_T^*)]$$
(3.4.27)

hence $\dot{L}_e < 0$. We see that $\dot{L}_e = 0$ iff $S = S^*$, $P_H = P_H^*$, $P_T - P_T^*$, $I_L = I_L^*$, $I_T = I_T^*$ and $T_T = T_T^*$. Thus the largest compact invariant set in $\{S, P_H, P_T, I_L, I_T, T_T\} \in \Gamma : \dot{L}_e = 0$ is the Singlet on E^* , where E^* is the endemic equilibrium. Thus E^* is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of Γ .

3.4.7 Numerical simulations

Numerical simulations are carried out to graphically illustrate the effect of protection on the dynamics of infection.

Table 3.1: Parameter values used in simulation of HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis model

Parameter description	Symbol	Value	Source
Natural death rate	μ	$7.0 \times 10^{-3} days^{-1}$	[8]
Recruitment rate	Λ	$8.7 \times 10^{-3} days^{-1}$	[8]
Rate of recruitment into HIV protected class	χ	6.7×10^{-3}	Estimated
Rate of recruitment into TB protected class	$\overline{\omega}$	$1.2 imes 10^{-3}$	Estimated
Loss of protection against HIV/AIDS	α_2	$1.0 imes 10^{-4}$	Estimated
Death due to HIV/AIDS	δ_A	$2.3 \times 10^{-4} days^{-1}$	[29]
Rate of progression to AIDS stage	$ au_2$	$1.25 \times 10^{-1} days^{-1}$	[36]
Probability of acquiring HIV/AIDS	π	$1.1 \times 10^{-10} days^{-1}$	[10]
Probability of success of protection			
against HIV/AIDS	ι_H	9.0×10^{-1}	Estimated
Contact rate with HIV/AIDS infectives	C	$8.0 imes 10^{-2}$	Estimated
Loss of protection against TB	α_1	$0.1 imes 10^{-3}$	Estimated
Death due to TB	δ_T	$3.95 \times 10^{-1} days^{-1}$	[30]
Rate of progression to symptomatic TB	$ au_1$	$5.0 \times 10^{-1} days^{-1}$	[27]
Probability of acquiring TB	θ	1.1×10^{-4}	Estimated
Probability of success of protection against TB	ι_T	9.0×10^{-1}	Estimated
Contact rate with TB infectives	η	$2.0 imes 10^{-4}$	Estimated

3.4.7.1 The effect of varying the protection term on HIV/AIDS infections

Numerical simulations were carried out to investigate the effect of protection on HIV/AIDS and TB prevalence. The following graphs were obtained for a given set on initial conditions and parameter values in table_a3.1 b



Figure 3.4.1: Simulation of model showing the evolution of HIV/AIDS against time

time; red Continuous line: $\pi = 1.1 \times 10^{-2}, \iota_H = 1.0 \times 10^{-4}$ blue dotted line: $\pi = 1.1 \times 10^{-10}, \iota_H = 9.0 \times 10^{-1}$



Figure 3.4.2: The graph of I_H against P_H



time; red Continuous line: $\theta = 1.1 \times 10^{-2}$, $\iota_T = 4.0 \times 10^{-1}$ blue dotted line: $\theta = 1.1 \times 10^{-4}$, $\iota_T = 9.0 \times 10^{-1}$



Figure 3.4.4: The graph of I_T against P_T

CHAPTER 4

HIV/Pneumonia model

4.1 Model description and formulation

We formulate a model in which the total human population at any time t denoted by N(t), is subdivide into subclasses, S(t) the class of individuals susceptible to both pneumonia and HIV/AIDS infection, P_P , individuals who are protected against pneumonia. The protection is lost at the rate α_1 . The class I_P consists of individuals who are infected with pneumonia at a rate λ_P . Treatment for pneumonia is assumed to be successful and is done at the rate ε . The class T_P consists of individuals who have recovered from pneumonia infection. Mortality occurs among pneumonia patients at the rate δ_P , while natural death is assumed to occur in all classes at the rate μ .

The class P_H consist of individuals who are protected against HIV/AIDS infection. For various forms of protection against HIV/AIDS, see for instance[51, 46]. This protection may be lost due to risky behaviour at the rate α_2 . Since the modes of transmission for the two diseases are different and also for purposes of simplicity we do not assume dual protection for pneumonia and HIV/AIDS. The class I_H is made up of individuals who are asymptomatically infected with HIV/AIDS. This infection occurs at the rate λ_H . In the absence of intervention (therapy), individuals develop symptoms of HIV/AIDS and progress from the class I_H to the class I_A at the rate τ . Mortality occurs among HIV/AIDS patients at the rate δ_A .

Individuals in the class I_H can acquire pneumonia at the rate $\varphi_1 \lambda_P$ and progress to the class I_{HP} , where φ_1 is a modification parameter accounting for the fact that individuals who have HIV virus are more susceptible to pneumonia infection than HIV negative individuals due to immunosuppression. Individuals in the class I_A can also acquire pneumonia at the rate $\varphi_2 \lambda_P$, where $\varphi_2 > \varphi_1$ and progress to the class I_{AP} . In the absence of intervention (therapy), individuals in the class I_{HP} develop symptoms of HIV/AIDS and progress to the class I_{AP} at the rate $\rho\tau$, where ρ is a modification parameter. Upon effective pneumonia treatment, individuals in the class I_{HP} and I_{AP} move to the classes I_H and I_A respectively. Mortality occurs due to the dual infection of HIV/AIDS and pneumonia at a rate δ_{AP} . Individuals in the class I_P can acquire HIV/AIDS at a rate $\kappa \lambda_H$ and progress to the class I_{HP} where $0 < \kappa < 1$ is a modification parameter accounting for the fact that individuals infected with pneumonia, due to morbidity have reduced activity and are less susceptible.

The total population

$$N(t) = S(t) + P_P(t) + P_H(t) + I_H(t) + I_{HP}(t) + I_P(t) + T_P(t) + I_A(t) + I_{AP}(t)$$
(4.1.1)

We define the rate at which susceptible individuals acquire pneumonia as

$$\lambda_P = \frac{\pi \theta [I_P + \phi_1 I_{HP} + \phi_2 I_{AP}]}{N(t)},$$
(4.1.2)

where π is the probability that one will acquire pneumonia upon contact with pneumonia infected individuals and θ is the contact rate with pneumonia infected individuals while $\phi_2 > \phi_1$ are modification parameters accounting for the assumed increased infectivity due to dual infection.

The rate at which susceptible individuals acquire HIV/AIDS is defined as

$$\lambda_{H} = \frac{\beta C [I_{H} + \omega_{1} I_{HP} + \omega_{2} I_{A} + \omega_{3} I_{AP}]}{N(t)}, \qquad (4.1.3)$$

where β is the probability that susceptible individuals acquire HIV upon contact with an HIV infected individual and C is the effective contact rate with HIV/AIDS infected individuals. $\omega_3 > \omega_2 > \omega_1$, are modification parameters showing the infectious rate per class.with the assumption that an individual who is asymptomatic with HIV/AIDS and has pneumonia is more infectious of HIV/AIDS than one asymptomatically infected with HIV/AIDS. Similarly AIDS individuals are more infectious than individuals asymptomatic with HIV/AIDS due to high viral load[28].

HIV/AIDS prevalence denoted by Φ will be

$$\Phi = \frac{\lambda_H}{\beta C}.\tag{4.1.4}$$

This study seeks to investigate the effect of protection for HIV/AIDS and pneumonia in the co-infection model. Let χ_P and χ_H denote the probability of success of protection against pneumonia and HIV/AIDS respectively. The modified rates of infection λ_P^r and λ_H^p become

$$\lambda_P^r = \lambda_P (1 - \chi_P) \tag{4.1.5}$$

and

$$\lambda_H^p = \lambda_H (1 - \chi_H) \tag{4.1.6}$$

From the above definitions, the resulting flow diagram for the co-infection is given below.



Figure 4.1.1: The flow diagram for the pneumonia and HIV/AIDS co-infection.

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \nu - \gamma)\Lambda + \alpha_1 P_P + \alpha_2 P_H - (\mu + \lambda_H + \lambda_P)S$$

$$\frac{dP_P}{dt} = \nu\Lambda - (\mu + \alpha_1 + \lambda_H)P_P$$

$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \gamma\Lambda - (\alpha_2 + \mu + \lambda_P)P_H$$

$$\frac{dI_H}{dt} = \lambda_H P_P + \lambda_H S + \varepsilon I_{HP} - (\varphi_1 \lambda_P + \mu + \tau)I_H$$

$$\frac{dI_A}{dt} = \tau I_H + \varepsilon I_{AP} - (\mu + \delta_A + \varphi_2 \lambda_P)I_A$$

$$\frac{dI_P}{dt} = \lambda_P P_H + \lambda_P S - (\mu + \kappa \lambda_H + \varepsilon + \delta_P)I_P$$

$$\frac{dI_P}{dt} = \varepsilon I_P - \mu T_P$$

$$\frac{dI_{HP}}{dt} = \varphi_1 \lambda_P I_H + \kappa \lambda_H I_P - (\mu + \varphi + \delta_P + \varepsilon)I_{HP}$$

$$\frac{dI_{AP}}{dt} = \rho \tau I_{HP} + \varphi_2 \lambda_P I_A - (\mu + \delta_A + \delta_P + \delta_A + \varepsilon)I_{AP}$$

where $\nu\Lambda$ is the constant recruitment rate into the class of individuals protected against pneumonia, $\gamma\Lambda$ is the constant recruitment rate into the class of individuals protected against HIV and $(1 - \nu - \gamma)\Lambda$ is the constant recruitment rate into the class of susceptible individuals to both pneumonia and HIV virus.

4.2 Positivity and boundedness of solutions

The model Equation (4.1.7) is studied in the feasible region Ω such that

$$\{S(t), P_H(t), P_P(t), I_H(t), I_{HP}(t), I_P(t), T_P(t), I_A(t), I_{AP}(t)\} \in \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^9_+.$$
(4.2.1)

Based on the fact that the model deal with human population, all the state variables and parameters are non-negative for all $t \ge 0$. It can be shown that the solutions are bounded such that

$$0 \le N \le \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$$

Since the solutions are positive and bounded the two models are epidemiologically well posed.

4.3 Reproduction number R_0

The basic reproduction number is the average number of secondary infections due to a single infectious individual in a fully susceptible population [38]. It is the spectral radius of a matrix

$$FV^{-1}$$
 (4.3.1)

where F is the Jacobian of \mathcal{F} , where \mathcal{F} is the rate of appearance of new infections in compartment and V is the Jacobian of \mathcal{V} , where \mathcal{V} is the rate of transfer of individuals into and out of compartment. FV^{-1} is calculated by the method of next generation matrix [37]. The disease free equilibrium of Equation (4.1.7) is given by

$$E_1^0 = \{S, P_P, P_H, I_H, I_A, I_P, T_P, I_{HP}, I_{AP}\} = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$$
(4.3.2)

We define \mathcal{F} into a class as

$$\mathcal{F} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_H (P_P + S) \\ 0 \\ \lambda_P (P_H + S) \\ \vartheta_1 \lambda_P + \kappa \lambda_H I_P \\ \vartheta_2 \lambda_P I_A \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.3.3)

We also define \mathcal{V} as

.

$$\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}^- - \mathcal{V}^+ \tag{4.3.4}$$

where \mathcal{V}^- is the rate of transfer of individuals out of a compartment and \mathcal{V}^+ is the rate of transfer of individuals into compartment. Thus \mathcal{V} is given by

$$\mathcal{V} = \begin{pmatrix} (\varphi_1 \lambda_P + \mu + \tau) I_H - \varepsilon I_{HP} \\ -\tau I_H - \varepsilon I_{AP} + (\mu + \delta_A + \varphi_2 \lambda_P) I_A \\ (\mu + \kappa \lambda_P + \varepsilon + \delta_P) I_P \\ (\mu + \varrho + \delta_P) I_{HP} \\ \varrho \tau I_{HP} + (\mu + \delta_A + \delta_P + \delta_{AP} + \varepsilon) I_{AP} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.3.5)

The Jacobian of \mathcal{F} at the disease free equilibrium denoted as F and is given by

Similarly, the Jacobian of \mathcal{V} at the disease free equilibrium is denoted by V and is given by

$$V = \begin{pmatrix} \mu + \tau & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon & 0 \\ -\tau & \mu + \delta_A & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon \\ 0 & 0 & \mu + \varepsilon + \delta_P & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \mu + \varrho + \delta_P & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varrho\tau & \mu + \delta_P + \delta_A + \delta_{AP} + \varepsilon \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.3.7)

Thus the eigenvalues of the matrix FV^{-1} are

$$R_P = \frac{\pi\theta(1-\chi_P)}{\varepsilon+\mu+\delta_P}$$

and

$$R_H = C\beta(1-\chi_H)(\frac{\mu+\delta_A+\tau\omega_2}{(\mu+\tau)(\mu+\delta_A)})$$

where R_P is the reproduction number for pneumonia and R_H is the reproduction number for HIV/AIDS in the Equation (4.1.7). The spectral radius of FV^{-1} is $max\{R_P, R_H\}$. Therefore, the basic reproduction number of Equation (4.1.7) is denoted as R_0^1 and is defined as $R_0^1 = max\{R_P, R_H\}$.

The reproduction number R_P gives the expected number of secondary Pneumonia infection produced by a single pneumonia infectious individual during his/her infectious period when introduced into a completely Pneumonia susceptible population. Similarly, The reproduction number R_H gives the expected number of secondary HIV/AIDS infection produced by a single HIV/AIDS infectious individual during his/her infectious period when introduced into a completely HIV/AIDS susceptible population. Since Equation (4.1.7) satisfy conditions A1 - A5 [48], then the disease free equilibrium $E_1^0 = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ is locally asymptotically stable if R_0^1 and unstable if R_0^1 . in the absence of protection $\chi P = \chi H = 0$ and $R_0^1 = max\{R_P, R_H\}$.

4.4 Global stability for the disease free equilibrium

there are two conditions that if met they guarantee the global asymptotic stability of the disease free state. Equation (4.1.7) may be written in the form

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = K(X,Z)$$

$$\frac{dZ}{dt} = W(X,Z), W(X,0) = 0$$
(4.4.1)

where $X \in \mathbb{R}^4$ and $X = \{S, P_P, P_H, T_T\}$ denotes the number of uninfected individuals and $Z \in \mathbb{R}^5$ where $Z = \{I_H, I_A, I_P, I_{HP}, I_{AP}\}$ denotes the number of infected individuals . $E_1^O = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ denotes the disease free equilibrium of this system where

$$X^* = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu})$$

conditions (4.4.2) may be met to guarantee global asymptotic stability

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = K(X,0), X^* \text{is globally asymptotic stable}$$
$$W(X,Z) = BZ - \widehat{W}(X,Z), \widehat{W}(X,Z) \ge 0 \forall (X,Z) \in \Omega$$
(4.4.2)

where $H = D_z N(X^*, 0)$ is an M matrix and Ω is the region where the model has biological meaning.

Theorem

If system (4.4.1) satisfies conditions (4.4.2), then the fixed point $E_1^O = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ is a globally asymptotically stable equilibrium of the system (4.4.1) provided that $R_0^1 < 1$ and the assumptions in (4.4.2) are satisfied.

Proof

Consider $F(X,0) = (\Lambda - \mu S_H)$ and $W(X,Z) = AZ - \widehat{W}(X,Z)$ where

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} -y_1 & 0 & 0 & \varepsilon & 0 \\ \tau & -y_2 & 0 & 0 & \varepsilon \\ 0 & 0 & -y_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -y_4 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \varrho\tau & -y_5 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.4.3)

Where $y_1 = (\mu + \tau), y_2 = (\mu + \delta_A), y_3 = (\mu + \varepsilon + \delta_P), y_4 = (\mu + \varrho + \delta_P + \varepsilon), y_5 = (\mu + \delta_A + \delta_P + \delta_{AP} + \varepsilon)$

and

$$\hat{W}(X,Z) = \begin{pmatrix} W_1 \\ W_2 \\ W_3 \\ W_4 \\ W_5 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\lambda_H (P_P + S) + \varphi_1 \lambda_P \\ +\varphi_2 \lambda_P \\ -\lambda_P (P_H + S) + \kappa \lambda_H \\ -(\varphi_1 \lambda_P + \kappa \lambda_H) \\ -(\varphi_2 \lambda_P) \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.4.4)

Since $W_4, W_5 < 0$, all the conditions in Equation (4.4.2) may not satisfied. Hence E_1^0 not globally asymptotically

4.4.1 The case of maximum protection against pneumonia

In this case the probability of the success of protection is unity, That is $\chi_P = 1$. Assuming that there are no new pneumonia infections in the population, then $\lambda_P = I_P = 0$. Therefore Equation (4.1.7) becomes

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \nu - \gamma)\Lambda + \alpha_2 P_H - (\mu + \lambda_H)S$$

$$\frac{dP_P}{dt} = \nu\Lambda - (\mu + \lambda_H)P_P$$

$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \gamma\Lambda - (\alpha_2 + \mu)P_H$$

$$\frac{dI_H}{dt} = \lambda_H P_P + \lambda_H S - (\mu + \tau)I_H$$

$$\frac{dI_A}{dt} = \tau I_H - (\mu + \delta_A)I_A$$
(4.4.5)

The rate of infection for Equation (4.4.5) is given by

$$\lambda_{H}^{h} = \frac{C\beta(1-\chi_{H})(I_{H}+\theta I_{A})}{N(t)}$$
(4.4.6)

The effective reproduction number R_H , computed using the next generation matrix method approach [37] for Equation (4.4.5) is given by

$$R_{H} = \frac{C\beta(1-\chi_{H})(\delta_{A}+\mu+\theta\chi_{H})(\mu(1-\gamma)+\alpha_{2})}{(\delta_{A}+\mu)(\mu+\tau)(\mu+\alpha_{2})}$$
(4.4.7)

The endemic state is defined as

$$I_{H}^{*} = \frac{\Lambda(\delta_{A} + \mu)(R_{H} - 1)}{(1 - \chi_{H})(\delta_{A} + \mu + \theta\tau) - \delta_{A}\tau}.$$
(4.4.8)

For an infection to be endemic in a population, $I_H^* > 0$. This inequality holds provided that $R_H > 1$ with $(1 - \chi_H) > 0$ and $[(1 - \chi_H)(\delta_A + \mu + \theta \tau)] > (\delta_A \tau)$

4.4.2 Local stability of the endemic equilibrium

The long term behaviour of Equation (4.4.5) can be deduced from its stability analysis. From Equation (4.4.5) $N(t) = S + P_P + P_H + I_H + I_A$. We can study the first four equations of Equation (4.4.5) since $I_A = N(t) - (S + P_P + P_H + I_H)$. Thus

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \nu - \gamma)\Lambda + \alpha_2 P_H - (\mu + \lambda_H^h)S$$

$$\frac{dP_P}{dt} = \nu\Lambda - (\mu + \lambda_H^h)P_P$$

$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \gamma\Lambda - (\alpha_2 + \mu)P_H$$

$$\frac{dI_H}{dt} = \lambda_H^h P_P + \lambda_H^h S - (\mu + \tau)I_H$$
(4.4.9)

The Jacobian of Equation (4.4.9) at the endemic state $E_1^*(S^*, P_P^*, P_H^*, I_H^*)$, denoted as $J(E_1^*)$ is given by

$$J(E_1^*) = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda_H^h) & 0 & \alpha_2 & \frac{-C\beta S^*(1-\chi_H)}{N} \\ 0 & -(\mu + \lambda_H^h) & 0 & \frac{-C\beta P_P^*(1-\chi_H)}{N} \\ 0 & 0 & -(\alpha_2 + \mu) & 0 \\ \lambda_H^h & \lambda_H^h & 0 & -(\mu + \tau) \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.4.10)

Clearly $-(\alpha_2 + \mu)$ is an eigenvalue of Equation (4.4.10). The other eigenvalues can be obtained from the reduced matrix defined by

$$B_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda_{H}^{h}) & 0 & \frac{-C\beta S^{*}(1-\chi_{H})}{N(t)} \\ 0 & -(\mu + \lambda_{H}^{h}) & \frac{-C\beta P_{P}^{*}(1-\chi_{H})}{N(t)} \\ \lambda_{H}^{h} & \lambda_{H}^{h} & -(\mu + \tau) \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.4.11)

The trace of Equation (4.4.11) is negative and its determinant is given by

$$det B_2 = \left[\frac{I_H^*(1-\chi_H)\beta C}{N(t)} + \mu\right] \left[\frac{I_H^*(1-\chi_H)(S^*-P_P^*)\beta C}{N^2} (I_H^*(\mu+\tau) - (1-\chi_H)\beta C + \mu + \tau) - \mu(\mu+\tau)\right]$$

$$(4.4.12)$$

 $detB_2 > 0$ provided that

$$\left[\frac{I_{H}^{*}(1-\chi_{H})(S^{*}-P_{P}^{*})\beta C}{N^{2}}(I_{H}^{*}(\mu+\tau)-(1-\chi_{H})\beta C+\mu+\tau)\geq(\mu(\mu+\tau))\right]$$
(4.4.13)

Since the trace is negative and the determinant is positive provided that inequality (4.4.13) hold, the eigenvalues of Equation (4.4.11) will have negative real parts. Therefore the endemic equilibrium $E_1^*(S^*, P_P^*, P_H^*, I_H^*)$ is locally asymptotically stable.

4.4.3 Global stability of the endemic equilibrium

The global stability of the equilibria are obtained by means of Lyapunov's direct method and LaSalle's invariance principle[12]. Consider the non-linear Lyapunov function

$$V_e: (S, P_P, P_H, I_H, I_A) \in \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^5_+: S, P_P, P_H, I_H, I_A > 0$$
(4.4.14)

defined as

$$V_{e}: (S, P_{P}, P_{H}, I_{H}, I_{A}) = \lambda_{H}^{h} (S - S^{*} - S^{*} \log \frac{S}{S^{*}}) + \lambda_{H}^{h} (P_{P} - P_{P}^{*} - P_{P}^{*} \log \frac{P_{P}}{P_{P}^{*}}) + \lambda_{H}^{h} (P_{H} - P_{H}^{*} - P_{H}^{*} \log \frac{P_{H}}{P_{H}^{*}}) + \lambda_{H}^{h} (I_{H} - I_{H}^{*} - I_{H}^{*} \log \frac{I_{H}}{I_{H}^{*}}) + \lambda_{H}^{h} (I_{A} - I_{A}^{*} - I_{A}^{*} \log \frac{I_{A}}{I_{A}^{*}})$$

$$(4.4.15)$$

where V_e is C^1 in the interior of the region Ω . E_1^* is the global minimum of V_e on Ω and $V_e: (S, P_P, P_H, I_H, I_A) = 0$. The time derivative of Equation(4.4.15) is given by

$$\frac{dV_e}{dt} = \dot{V}_e = \lambda_H^h (1 - \frac{S^*}{S}) \frac{dS}{dt} + \lambda_H^h (1 - \frac{P_P^*}{P_P}) \frac{dP_P}{dt} + \lambda_H^h (1 - \frac{P_H^*}{P_H}) \frac{dP_H}{dt} + \lambda_H^h (1 - \frac{I_A^*}{I_A}) \frac{dI_A}{dt} \\
= -\lambda_H^h (\frac{S - S^*}{S}) [(\mu + \lambda_H^h)(S - S^*) + \alpha_2 (P_H - P_H^*)] \\
\lambda_H^h (\frac{P_H - P_H^*}{P_H}) [(\alpha_2 + \mu)(P_H - P_H^*)] - \lambda_H^h (\frac{P_P - P_P^*}{P_P}) [(\mu + \lambda_H^h)(P_P - P_P^*)] \\
-\lambda_H^h (\frac{I_H - I_H^*}{I_H}) [(\mu + \tau_2)(I_H - I_H^*)] - \lambda_H^h (\frac{I_A - I_A^*}{I_A}) [(\mu + \delta_A)(I_A - I_A^*)] \\$$
(4.4.16)

Hence $\dot{V}_e < 0$. We see that $\dot{V}_e = 0$ iff $S = S^*$, $P_H = P_H^*$, $P_P = P_P^*$, $I_H = I_H^*$ and $I_A = I_A^*$. Thus the largest compact invariant set in $\{S, P_H, P_P, I_H, I_A\} \in \Omega$: $\dot{V}_e = 0$ is the Singleton E_1^* , where E_1^* is the endemic equilibrium. Thus E_1^* is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of the region Ω .

4.4.4 Case of maximum protection against HIV/AIDS

In this case the probability of the success of protection is unity, i.e $\chi_H = 1$. Assuming that there are no new HIV/AIDS infections in the population, then $\lambda_H = I_H = I_A = 0$.

Therefore Equation (4.1.7) becomes

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \nu - \gamma)\Lambda + \alpha_1 P_P - (\mu + \lambda_P)S$$

$$\frac{dP_P}{dt} = \nu\Lambda - (\mu + \alpha_1)P_P$$

$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \gamma\Lambda - (\mu + \lambda_P)P_H$$

$$\frac{dI_P}{dt} = \lambda_P P_H + \lambda_P S - (\mu + \varepsilon + \delta_P)I_P$$

$$\frac{dT_P}{dt} = \varepsilon I_P - \mu T_P$$
(4.4.17)

The rate of infection Equation (4.4.17) is now defined as

$$\lambda_P^p = \frac{\pi \theta (1 - \chi_P) I_P}{N(t)} \tag{4.4.18}$$

while the effective reproduction number is given by

$$R_P = \frac{\pi \theta (1 - \chi_P) (\mu (1 - \nu) + \alpha_1)}{(\delta_P + \mu + \varepsilon) (\mu + \alpha_1)}.$$
(4.4.19)

For the infection to be endemic in a population $I_P^\ast>0$ where

$$I_P^* = \frac{\Lambda(R_P - 1)}{(\pi\theta)(1 - \chi_P) - \delta_P} > 0$$
(4.4.20)

provided $R_P > 1$ with $\delta_P < \pi \theta (1 - \chi_P)$.

4.4.5 Local stability of the endemic equilibrium

The total population N(t) from Equation (4.4.17) is $N(t) = S + P_P + P_H + I_P + T_P$ for which $T_P = N(t) - S + P_P + P_H + I_P$. Thus we study the first four equations of Equation (4.4.17) at the endemic state $E_2^*(S^*, P_H^*, P_P^*I_P^*)$.

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = (1 - \nu - \gamma)\Lambda + \alpha_1 P_P - (\mu + \lambda_P^p)S$$

$$\frac{dP_P}{dt} = \nu\Lambda - (\mu + \alpha_1)P_P$$

$$\frac{dP_H}{dt} = \gamma\Lambda - (\mu + \lambda_P^p)P_H$$

$$\frac{dI_P}{dt} = \lambda_P^p P_H + \lambda_P^p S - (\mu + \varepsilon + \delta_P)I_P$$
(4.4.21)

The Jacobian of Equation (4.4.21) is given by

$$J(E_2^*) = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda_P^p) & \alpha_1) & 0 & \frac{-\pi\theta S^*(1-\chi_P^p)}{N} \\ 0 & -(\mu + \alpha_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -(\mu + \lambda_P^p) & \frac{-\pi\theta P_H^*(1-\chi_P)}{N} \\ \lambda_P^p & 0 & \lambda_P^p & -(\mu + \varepsilon + \delta_P) \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.4.22)

Clearly $-(\mu + \alpha_1)$ is an eigenvalue of Equation (4.4.22). To obtain the other eigenvalues, we analyze the system

$$B_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda_{P}^{p}) & 0 & \frac{-\pi\theta S^{*}(1-\chi_{P})}{N} \\ 0 & -(\mu + \lambda_{P}^{p}) & \frac{-\pi\theta P_{H}^{*}(1-\chi_{P})}{N} \\ \lambda_{P}^{p} & \lambda_{P}^{p} & -(\mu + \varepsilon + \delta_{P}) \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.4.23)

 $trB_3 < 0$ and

$$detB_{3} = \frac{1}{N^{2}(t)} \left[\frac{I_{P}^{*}(1-\chi_{P})\pi\theta}{N(t)} + \mu \right] \left[(1-\chi_{P})^{2}\pi^{2}\theta^{2}I_{P}^{*}(P_{H}^{*}+S^{*}) + N(t)(I_{P}^{*}(1-\chi_{P})\pi\theta + N(t)\mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \tau) \right]$$

$$(4.4.24)$$

 $detB_3$ is positive since $(1 - \chi_P) > 0$. Therefore the endemic equilibrium $E_2^*(S^*, P_H^*, P_P^*I_P^*)$ is locally asymptotically stable.

4.4.6 Global stability of the endemic equilibrium

Consider the non-linear Lyapunov function

$$V: (S, P_P, P_H, I_P, T_P) \in \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^5_+ : S, P_P, P_H, I_P, T_P > 0$$
(4.4.25)

defined as

$$V : (S, P_P, P_H, I_P, T_P) = \lambda_P^p (S - S^* - S^* \log \frac{S}{S^*}) + \lambda_P^p (P_P - P_P^* - P_P \log \frac{P_P}{P_P^*}) + \lambda_P^p (P_H - P_H^* - P_H^* \log \frac{P_H}{P_H^*}) + \lambda_P (I_P - I_P^* - I_P^* \log \frac{I_P}{I_P^*}) + \lambda_P^p (T_P - T_P^* - T_P^* \log \frac{T_P}{T_P^*})$$

$$(4.4.26)$$

where V is C^1 in the interior of the region Ω . E_2^* is the global minimum of V on Ω and $V : (S, P_P, P_H, I_P, T_P) = 0$. The time derivative of Equation (4.4.26) is given by

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \dot{V} = \lambda_P^p (1 - \frac{S^*}{S}) \frac{dS}{dt} + \lambda_P^p (1 - \frac{P_P^*}{P_P}) \frac{dP_P}{dt} + \lambda_P^p (1 - \frac{P_H^*}{P_H}) \frac{dP_H}{dt} + \lambda_P^p (1 - \frac{I_P^*}{I_P}) \frac{dI_P}{dt} + \lambda_P^p (1 - \frac{T_P^*}{T_P}) \frac{dT_P}{dt}$$
(4.4.27)

with the derivatives of Equation S, P_P, P_H, I_P, T_P defined in Equation (4.4.17) and by using

 $(1-\nu-\gamma)\Lambda = -\alpha_1 P_P^* + (\mu + \lambda_P^p)S^*, \nu\Lambda = (\mu + \alpha_1)P_P^*, \gamma\Lambda = (\mu + \lambda_P^p)P_H^*, \lambda_P^p(P_H + S) = (\mu + \varepsilon + \delta_P)I_P^*$, and $\varepsilon I_P = \mu T_P$ into Equation (4.4.27) we obtain

$$\dot{V} = -\lambda_P^p \left(\frac{S-S^*}{S}\right) \left[(\mu + \lambda_P^p)(S-S^*) + \alpha_1 (P_P - P_P^*) \right] -\lambda_P^p \left(\frac{P_P - P_P^*}{P_P}\right) \left[(\alpha_1 + \mu)(P_P - P_P^*) \right] - \lambda_P^p \left(\frac{P_H - P_H^*}{P_H}\right) \left[(\mu + \lambda_P^p)(P_H - P_H^*) \right] -\lambda_P^p \left(\frac{I_P - I_P^*}{I_P}\right) \left[(\mu + \varepsilon + \delta_P)(I_L - I_L^*) \right] - \lambda_P^p \left(\frac{T_P - T_P^*}{T_P}\right) \left[\mu(T_P - T_P^*) \right]$$
(4.4.28)

hence $\dot{V} < 0$. Thus E_2^* is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of the region Ω .

4.4.7 Numerical simulations

To graphically illustrate the effect of protection on the dynamics of infection, numerical simulations are carried out.

Table 4.1: Parameter values used in simulation of HIV/AIDS and pneumonia model

Parameter description	Symbol	Value	Source
Natural death rate	μ	$7.0 \times 10^{-3} days^{-1}$	[8]
Recruitment rate	Λ	$8.7 \times 10^{-3} days^{-1}$	[8]
Rate of recruitment into			
pneumonia protected class	γ	$1.2 imes 10^{-3}$	Estimated
Rate of recruitment into			
HIV/AIDS protected class	ν	$5.97 imes 10^{-1}$	[35]
Loss of protection against pneumonia	α_2	$5.0 imes 10^{-3}$	Estimated
Death due to pneumonia	δ_A	$3.4 \times 10^{-2} days^{-1}$	[35]
Probability of acquiring pneumonia	π	1.1×10^{-9}	Estimated
Probability of success of			
protection against pneumonia	χ_P	$9.0 imes 10^{-1}$	Estimated
Contact rate with pneumonia infective	θ	$8.0 imes 10^{-1}$	Estimated

4.4.7.1 The effect of varying the protection term on pneumonia infection against time



Figure 4.4.1: Simulation of Equation (4.4.17) showing the evolution of pneumonia

Continuous line: $\pi = 1.1 \times 10^{-3}, \chi_P = 6.0 \times 10^{-3}$ Broken line: $\pi = 1.1 \times 10^{-9}, \chi_P = 9.0 \times 10^{-1}$



Figure 4.4.2: The graph of I_P against P_P

CHAPTER 5

Discussion, conclusion and recommendations

5.1 Discussion

The disease free equilibrium points for Equation(3.1.7) and Equation (4.1.7) are shown not to be globally asymptotically stable. This implies that reoccurrence of the disease is possible especially when the conditions favoring such reoccurrence are prevailing. Four cases of maximum protection are considered. In all cases, the endemic states are shown to exist provided that the reproduction number is greater than unity. By use of Routh-Hurwitz criterion and suitable Lyapunov functions, the endemic states are shown to be locally and globally asymptotically stable respectively. This implies that disease transmission levels can be kept quiet low or manageable with minimal deaths in the presence of protection.

From Figure 3.4.1(a), we see that , with a low protection rate the probability of infection is high and therefore the number of infectives I_H rises sharply in a short span before drastically dropping. This sharp drop may be attributed to the depletion of susceptibles or the susceptibles embracing protective measures. From the same figure a very high protection rate with a low probability of transmission results in reduced disease prevalence. The time evolution of I_A , is lower than that of I_H as depicted by Figure 3.4.1(b) since it takes time to progress from I_H to I_A as the body's immunity tries to fight the HIV virus. From Figure 3.4.3, with a high rate of protection, and a low probability of disease transmission, the diseases prevalence for TB also goes down. On the other hand, a low protection rate leads to a high disease prevalence. From Figure 3.4.2, we observe that the number of I_H infections reduces with increased protection. Similarly, Figure 3.4.4 shows that the number of I_T infectives reduces with increased protection. From Figure 4.4.1, a high rate of protection against pneumonia leads to a low probability of disease transmission and a low protection rate leads to a high disease prevalence. Figure 4.4.2 shows that the number of I_P infectives reduces with increased protection. This is consistent with reality 3 and the mathematical analysis which shows the attainment of local and global stability of the endemic equilibrium in the presence of protection.

In order to reduce the number of new HIV/AIDS and TB infections, and reduce the

impact of HIV/AIDS on individual, families and communities, there is need to employ strategies such as increasing the public awareness drive to behaviour change and encourage openness, increasing access to voluntary HIV testing and counselling, promoting increased condom use to reduce the spread of HIV infection, improving access to antiretroviral drugs (ARV's) for people living with AIDS, practising proper hygiene in the case of TB and avoiding clouded places. These strategies will help in reducing the economic burden that are borne by a country in giving care and treating the infected individuals. As evidence from these results, it is indeed true that prevention is better than cure.

5.2 Conclusion

In this work, we first formulated a model for the co-infection of HIV/AIDS with TB incorporating protection. To investigate the effect of protection, two cases were considered. That is, case of maximum protection against HIV/AIDS and the case of maximum protection against TB. The existence of the endemic equilibrium for the two cases was established and the stability of the same was analysed. In both cases the endemic equilibrium is found to be globally asymptotically stable.

Secondly, we formulated a model for the co-infection of HIV/AIDS with pneumonia incorporating protection. To investigate the effect of protection, two cases were considered, namely the case of maximum protection against HIV/AIDS and the case of maximum protection against pneumonia. The existence of the endemic equilibrium for the two cases was established and the stability of the same was analysed. From the numerical simulations, we observe that protection against a disease has the effect of reducing the disease prevalence. This is in agreement with the mathematical analysis which shows that in the presence of protection, the endemic equilibria are both locally and globally asymptotically stable.

5.3 Recommendations

The government, through the relevant people in the health sector, need to sensitize the public on the need of embracing protective measures in the view of reducing disease prevalence in the population. Since protection has been used in a general sense, further research may be carried out to analyze the contribution of specific protective measures in the overall reduction of disease prevalence rates

REFERENCES

- A.Kiers, A.P. Drost, D.V.Soolingen, J. Veen. 1997. Use of DNA fingerprinting in international source case finding during a large outbreak of tuberculosis in the Netherlands. Int. J. Tuber.Lung dis. 1(3):239-245.
- [2] B. Flugentius, S.L. Luboobi and Y.T.J Mugisha. 2005.Periodicity of the HIV/AIDS Epidemic in a Mathematical Model that Incorporates Complacency. American Journal of Infectious Diseases.1(1):55-60
- [3] B. Nannyonga , J. Y. T. Mugisha and L. S. Luboobi. 2011. The Role of HIV Positive Immigrants and Dual Protection in a Co-Infection of Malaria and HIV/AIDS. *Applied Mathematical Sciences*. 5(59):2919 - 2942
- [4] B.Song C. Castillo-Chavavez, J.P. Aparicio. 2002. Tuberculosis models with fast and slow dynamics: The role of close and casual contacts. *Elservier Science Inc*.180(1):187-205
- [5] C.Castillo-Chavez, F. Zhilan and H. Wenzhan. 2002. On the computation of R₀ and its role in global stability.In: Mathematical approaches for emerging and re emerging infectious diseases. An Introduction. *Institute for Mathematics and its Applications*. 229 - 250
- [6] C. Colijin, T. Cohen and M. Murray. 2006. Mathematical models of tuberculosis:Accomplishments and future challenges. International Symposium on Mathematical and Computational Biology. 123 - 148
- [7] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2012. Mobidity and Mortality weekly report.7(61).
- [8] Central Intelligence Agency (C.I.A) World Factbook. 2014
- [9] C K Ong, W C Tan, K N Leong, A R Muttalif. 2008. Tuberculosis-HIV Coinfection: The Relationship Between Manifestation Of Tuberculosis And The Degree Of Immunosuppression (CD4 Counts). *IeJSME*. 2(2):17-22
- [10] C.P. Bhunu, W.Garira and G.Magombedza. 2009. Mathematical analysis of a two strain HIV/AIDS model with antiretroviral treatment. Springer. 57(3):361 - 381.

- [11] C.P.Bhunu, W.Garira ,Z.Mukandavire. 2009. Modelling HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis coinfection. Bull Math Biol.71(7):1745 -1780.
- [12] C.V. De Leon. 2009. Constructions of Lyapunov Functions for Classics SIS,SIR and SIRS epidemic model with variable population size. Unite Academica de Mathematicas, UniversidadnAutonoma de Guerrere, Mexico Facultad de Estudios Superiores Zarogoza, UNAM, Mexico.1-12
- [13] D.Bhowmik, Chiranjib, R.M Chandira, B. jayakar, K.P.S. Kurmar. 2009. Recent trends of drug used treatment of tuberculosis. *Journal of chemical and pharmaceutical Research*. 1:113-133
- [14] D.B.M.B Narasimhamurthy and K.M.B Leelavathy. 2007. Mathematical model aproach to HIV/AIDS transmission from mother to child. International journal of Scientific and Technology research. 1(9):52 - 61
- [15] D. Greenhalgh and G. Hay. 1997. Mathematical modelling of the spread of HIV/AIDS amongst injecting drug users. IMA journal of Applied Med Biol. 12(1): 11-38.
- [16] Division of disease control. North Dakota, Department of health. 2007 report 2007
- [17] D.W. Fitzgerald, M, Desvarieux, P. Severe, P.Joseph, W.D.Johnson, J.W.Pape. 2000. Effect of post-treatment isoniazid on prevention of recurrent tuberculosis in HIV-1-infected individuals: a randomised trial. *Lancet*.356(9240):1470-1474.
- [18] E. Gouws, P.J White, J. Stover and T. Brown. 2006. Short term estimates of adult HIV incidence by mode of transmission: Kenya and Thailand as examples. *sex. transm. infct.* 82: 51 - 55.
- [19] E.L Coebett, C.J Watt, N. Walker, M.Dermot, G.W Brian, C.R Mario and D.Cristopher. 2003. The growing burden of tuberculosis global trends and interactions with the HIV epidemic. *Arch intel Med.* 163(9):1009-1021.
- [20] E.R. Chaisson and G.J. churchyard. 2010. Recurrent tuberculosis: Relapse, Reinfection, and HIV. Journal of infectious diseases. 201(5):653-655.
- [21] F. Kapadia, D. Vlahhov, R.M Donahoe and G. Friedland. 2005. The role of substance abuse in HIV disease progression. Reconciling differences from laboratory and epidemiological investigations. *Clinical infectious disease*. 41(7): 1027-1034

- [22] F.N. Britton. 2003. Essential Mathematical Biology. Springer Verlag London Limited.
- [23] G. O. Lawi, J. Y. T. Mugisha and N. Omolo-Ongati. 2013. modeling Coinfection of Paediatric Malaria and Pneumonia. Int. Journal of Math. Analysis. 7(9): 413 - 424.
- [24] HIV and AIDS mainstreaming; Guide for AIDS control Units in the public sector in Kenya, June, 2011.
- [25] J.G.Castro, G. Manzi, L. Espinoza, M. Campos and C. Boulanger. 2009. Concurrent PCP and TB pneumonia in HIV infected patients. *Scandinavian journal of infectious diseases*. 39(11-12):1054-1058.
- [26] J.P Aparicio and C. Castillo-Chavez. 2009. Mathematical modeling of tuberculosis epidemics. *Mathematical biosciences and Engineering* .6(2):209 - 237.
- [27] Kenya AIDS Indicator Survey (KAIS) report. 2012.
- [28] L.J Abu-Raddad P.Patnaik and J.G. Kublin. 2006. Dual infection with Hiv and malaria fuels the spread of both diseases in sub-saharan Africa, *Science*. 314(5805):1603 -1606.
- [29] L.M Arriola and J.M Hyman. 2007. Being sensitive to Uncertainty, Journal of computing Science and Engineering 9(2):10 - 20
- [30] L.W.Roeger, Z.Feng and C.Castillo-Chavez. 2009. Modeling TB and HIV Coinfections. *Mathematical Biosciences and Engineering*. 6(4):815-837.
- [31] M.Harrington, B.Huff, R.Camp, R.Jeffreys, and T.Swan. 2005. Whats in the pipeline? New HIV drugs, vaccines, microbicides, HCV and TB treatments in clinical trials. New York: 1 - 15. Group.
- [32] Ministry of heath Kenya. 2001. Report on AIDS in Kenya background, projections, impact, interventions, policy.
- [33] Ministry of Health, Government of Kenya. 2001. Guidelines to Antiretroviral drug therapy in Kenya.
- [34] M.Pollicott, H.wang and H. Weiss. 2011. Recovering the timedependent rate from infection data in solution of inverse ODE problem: arXiv:0907.3529.
- [35] National Survey: Annual Summary Report. 2006.

- [36] N.Malunguza, S.Mushayabas, C.Chiyaka, Z.Mukandavire. 2010. Modelling the effects of condom use and antiretroviral therapy in controlling HIV/AIDS among heterosexuals, homosexuals and bi sexuals. *Compt. Math methods med.* 11(3): 201-222.
- [37] O.Diekmann, J.A.Heesterbeek. 1990. On the defination and the computation of the basic reproduction ratio in models for infectious diseases in heterogenious populations. *Journal of Mathematical Biology*. 28(4):365 - 382.
- [38] O.Diekmann and J.A.P Heesterbeek. 2000. Mathematical epidemiology of infectious diseases, Wiley series in Mathematical and Computational biology. England. John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
- [39] O.M Akpa and B.A Oyejola. 2010. Modelling transmission dynamics of HIV/AIDS epidemics:an introduction and review. J Infect Dev Ctries. 4(10):597-608.
- [40] O.Sharomi, C.N.Podder, A.B.Gumel, B.Song. 2008. Mathematical analysis of the transmission dynamics of HIV/TB co-infection in the presence of treatment. *Math. Biosci. Eng.* 5(1): 145 - 174.
- [41] P.Sonnenberg, J. Murray, J.R.Glynn, S.Shearer, K.Bupe, G.F.Peter.2001. HIV-1 and Recurrence, relapse, and reinfection of tuberculosis after cure: a cohort study in South African mineworkers. *Lancet.* 358(9294): 1687-1693.
- [42] R.Naresh, A Tripathi, D. Sharma. 2008. Modelling and analysis of the spread of AIDS epidemic with immigration of HIV infectives. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling.* 49(5): 880 - 892.
- [43] S.K. Sharma, A.Mohan and T.Kadhiravan. (2005). HIV-TB co-infection: Epidemiology, diagnosis and management. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*. 121(4):550-567.
- [44] S.Russell.(2004). The economic burden of illness for households in developing countries: a review of studies focusing on malaria, tuberculosis, and human immunodeficiency virus/ acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 71(2): 147-155.
- [45] Strategic Frame Work to Decrease the Burden of TB/HIV, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, March, 2002.
- [46] UNAIDS/WHO.(2006). Report on the global AIDS epidemic: Executive sum- mary. UNAIDS and WHO, Geneva, http://data.unaids.org/pub/GlobalReport/ 2006/2006-GRExecutiveSummary- en.pdf.

- [47] United Nations Childrens Fund (UNICEF)report 2008. Tracking progress in maternal, newborn and child survival:
- [48] V.P Driessche and J. Watmough. 2000. Reproduction numbers and sub threshold endemic equilibria for compartmental models of disease transmission. *Mathematical Biosciences*. 180(1): 29 - 48.
- [49] WHO, http://www.who.int/hiv/mediacentre/02-Global Summary. (2006).EpiUpdate. eng.pdf, Geneva, Switzerland.
- [50] Z.Mukandavire, A.B.Gumel, W.Garira, and J.M.Tchuenche. 2009. Mathematical analysis of a model for HIV-malaria co-infection. *Mathematical Biosciences and En*gineering. 6(2):333-362.
- [51] Z.Mukandavire, and W.Garira. 2007. Sex-structured HIV/AIDS model to analyse the effects of condom use with application to Zimbabwe. J. Math. Biol .54(5):669-699.
- [52] http://matworld.wolfran.com/Routh-HurwitzTheorem.html

Appendix A Matlab code for HIV/AIDS infectives against time

```
clear
options=odeset('RelTol',1e-4,'AbsTol',[1e-6 1e-4 1e-6 1e-4 1e-6]);
[T1,Y1]=ode45('J0YCE512', [0:10:1000], [100,0 , 8, 7, 5], options);
[T2,Y2]=ode45('J0YCE513', [0:10:1000], [100,0 , 8, 7, 5], options);
subplot(2,2,1)
plot(T1,Y1(:,4),'--',T2,Y2(:,4),'-r');
title('a');
xlabel 'Timet in days';
ylabel 'Infectives at I_H';
hold on
subplot(2,2,2)
plot(T1,Y1(:,5),'--',T2,Y2(:,5),'-r');
title('b');
xlabel 'Time t in days';
ylabel 'Infectives at I_A';
hold off
function dy=J0YCE512,J0YCE513(t,y)
dy=[10000 400 400 200 200]';
dy(1)=(1-a(1)-a(2))*a(3)+a(4)*y(2)-(a(5)+a(6))*y(1);
dy(2)=a(1)*a(3)-(a(4)+a(5))*y(2);
dy(3)=a(2)*a(3)-(a(5)+a(6))*y(3);
dy(4)=a(6)*(y(1)+y(3))-(a(5)+a(7))*y(4);
dy(5)=a(7)*y(4)-(a(5)+a(8))*y(5);
```

Appendix B Matlab code for HIV/AIDS infectives against protection

```
[T,Y]=ode45('p3', (0:2:1000),[800,100 , 0, 45, 55]);
plot(Y(:,3),Y(:,4),'LineWidth',3);
xlabel 'P_H';
ylabel ' I_H';
function dy=p3(t,y)
dy=[10000 400 400 200 200]';
dy(1)=(1-h(1)-h(2))*h(3)+h(4)*y(3)-(h(5)+h(6))*y(1);
dy(2)=h(1)*h(3)-(h(5)+h(6))*y(2);
dy(3)=h(2)*h(3)-(h(4)+h(5))*y(3);
dy(4)=h(6)*(y(1)+y(2))-(h(5)+h(7))*y(4);
dy(5)=h(7)*y(4)-(h(5)+h(8))*y(5);
```

Appendix C

Matlab code for tuberculosis infectives against time

```
%options=odeset('RelTol',1e-,'AbsTol',[1e-6 1e-4 1e-6]);
[T1,Y1]=ode45('KJNNN2', (0:2:100),[50,0,5,5,5,10]);
[T2,Y2]=ode45('KJN22', (0:2:100),[50,0,5,5,5,10]);
plot(T1,Y1(:,4),'--',T2,Y2(:,4),'-r');
xlabel 'Time(days)';
ylabel 'Infectives I_L';
function dy=KJNNN2,KJN22(t,y)
dy=[1000 600 500 400 300 200]';
dy(1)=(1-d(1)-d(2))*d(3)+d(4)*y(2)-(d(5)+d(6))*y(1);
dy(2)=d(1)*d(3)-(d(4)+d(5))*y(2);
dy(3)=d(2)*d(3)-(d(5)+d(6))*y(3);
dy(4)=d(6)*(y(1)+y(3))-(d(5)+d(7))*y(4);
dy(5)=d(7)*y(4)-(y(5)+d(9)+d(8))*y(5);
dy(6)=d(8)*y(5)-d(5)*y(6);
```

Appendix D

Matlab code for tuberculosis infectives against protection

```
[T,Y]=ode45('KJNNN', (0:10:10),[50,0,5,5,5,10]);
plot(Y(:,2),Y(:,4),'LineWidth',3);
xlabel 'P_T';
ylabel ' I_T';
function dy=KJNNN(t,y)
dy=[1000 600 500 400 300 200]';
dy(1)=(1-d(1)-d(2))*d(3)+d(4)*y(2)-(d(5)+d(6))*y(1);
dy(2)=d(1)*d(3)-(d(4)+d(5))*y(2);
dy(3)=d(2)*d(3)-(d(5)+d(6))*y(3);
dy(4)=d(6)*(y(1)+y(3))-(d(5)+d(7))*y(4);
dy(5)=d(7)*y(4)-(y(5)+d(9)+d(8))*y(5);
dy(6)=d(8)*y(5)-d(5)*y(6);
```

Appendix E

Matlab code for pneumonia infectives against time

```
[T1,Y1]=ode45('JK', (0:5:100),[50,0 , 1, 0.1, 4]);
[T2,Y2]=ode45('JK1', (0:5:100),[50,0 , 1, 0.1, 4]);
subplot(1,1,1)
plot(T1,Y1(:,4),'--',T2,Y2(:,4),'-r');
title('a');
xlabel 'Timet in days';
ylabel 'Infectives I_P';
xlabel 'Time t in days' ;
function dy=JK,JK1 (t,y)
dy=[1000 100 100 50 50]';
dy(1)=(1-b(1)-b(2))*b(3)+ b(4)*y(2)-(b(5)+b(6))*y(1);
dy(2)=b(1)*b(3)-(b(4)+b(5))*y(2);
dy(3)=b(2)*b(3)-(b(5)+b(6))*y(3);
dy(4)=b(6)*(y(1)+y(3))-(b(5)+b(7)+b(8))*y(4);
dy(5)=b(7)*y(4)-b(5)*y(5);
```

Appendix F

```
Matlab code for pneumonia infectives against protection
```

```
[T,Y]=ode45('JK', (0:5:100), [50,0 , 1, 0.1, 4]);
plot(Y(:,2),Y(:,4),'LineWidth',3);
xlabel 'P_P';
ylabel ' I_P';
function dy=JK(t,y)
b(1)=0.00597;
b(2)=0.00067;
b(3)=0.0008748;
b(4)=0.0005;
b(5)=0.007;
b(6)=(0.000000011*0.000008*(1-0.9)*y(4))/(y(1)+y(2)+y(3)+y(4)+y(5));
b(7)=0.098;
b(8)=0.000034;
dy=[1000 100 100 50 50]';
dy(1)=(1-b(1)-b(2))*b(3)+ b(4)*y(2)-(b(5)+b(6))*y(1);
dy(2)=b(1)*b(3)-(b(4)+b(5))*y(2);
dy(3)=b(2)*b(3)-(b(5)+b(6))*y(3);
dy(4)=b(6)*(y(1)+y(3))-(b(5)+b(7)+b(8))*y(4);
dy(5)=b(7)*y(4)-b(5)*y(5);
```